oN

s

B3

ellomes

ntag

e

Me

T




L A‘...,u;.v.‘ A
Clardd dmiddioss

E 2

Fr~

o, TX




2005: 18 Consecutive Years Of
Record Revenue And Net Earnings

The past year was an outstanding one for Meritage,

s the growih and refums produced for our stockholders
were among the strongest in the homebuilding secfor.
The successhul execution of our growth strafegy in 2005
led fo two acquisitions in Florida, expansion in exisfing

markets and a starkup division in Reno, Nevada.

Highlights of our year included:

¢ $3 billion in revenue

» 48% five-year compounded net earings growih
16% alfertax refum on assefs

* 37% relum on stockholders' equity

* 38% netdebtocapital ratio af yearend

* yearend record backlog valued at $2.2 billion
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March 15, 2006

To Our Stockholders:

We are proud fo report our 18th consecufive year of
record revenue and nef eamings, with another year of
strong returns for our stockholders. Once again, Meritage
was named to the Forbes "Platinum 400 List of America’s
Best Big Companies” and fo the Fortune list of the “100
Fastest Growing Companies in America.” Meritage also
moved up to No. 747 among the "Fortune 1000" largest
corporations in America. Our corporate footprint is growing,
as we now build in 14 metropolitan markets in six states
coast to coast, compored o seven markels in three siates
just four years ago. We believe we're located in the best
states for longterm homebuilding opportunities - states that
have high population growth and permit aciivity, are gateways
for immigration and are desirable climates for both business
and refirement.

Superior Results Were Enhanced

By A Strong Florida Entry

Our diluted earmings per share rose 77%, helping fo generate
a 16% refurn on assets and a 37% refum on stocknolders'
equity. Unit deliveries rose by 30% in 2005, and have
shown a compounded average growih rate of 40% since
Meritage became a publicly fraded homebuilder af the end
of 1996. Roughly onefourth of the overall increase in
Meritage's deliveries resulted from our successful entry into
Florida, demonstrating our ability to expand info new markets.
Meritage acquired Colonial Homes of Ft. Myers/Naples in
February 2005 and Greater Homes of Orando in September
2005 - and we expect Florida to present continued
opportunities for expansion. Florida is currently the country’s
fostest growing stofe in terms of singlefamily housing permits*
and is ranked third among all states for population growth. * *

*Hanley Wood Marke! Intelligence - based on increase in singlefomily permits 2005 compared to 2004
**U.S. Census Bureou - based on percentage increase in population July 2005 compared fo July 2004







Ability To Control Land

Positions Meritage For Growth

Utilizing our financial sirength 1o acquire quality home sites
and land in premium locations is a key element o our
confinued growth. Despite rising development constraints in
many of our markefs, our land specialists continued fo deliver
in 2005. They increased our pipeline of quality lofs by
39% this past vear to more than 54,000 lots at yearend,
or a 5.8 year supply based on 2005 closings. Over 90%
of these lofs are controlled through option agreements,
consistent with our conservative financial model. These lots
supported a 32% increase in the number of active communities

at the end of 2005 that positions Meritage for future growh.

Equally important, our local management teams put the
right homes on these lots at the right prices fo serve an
increasing variely of market segments across our locations.
We have broadened our fraditional focus on the move-up
buyer fo include more entrylevel, semi-custom luxury and
active adult products. We are also beginning fo expand
info other segments, such as urban infill and atiached
homes, ranging from @ mid+ise condo in downfown
Ockland 1o carriage homes on a Florida waterway. The
Company’s increasing diversity of products and locations
allows us 1o better respond to shifts in demand af the local
level and fo adapt fo changes in market conditions.

Management Of Capital Resources

Is A Meritage Advantage

Meritage's access to capital is a crilical advantage over
private builders and vital to achieving our growth godls.
We improved our yearend netdebtocapital rafio fo 38%
from 45% at the end of 2004. We furher strengthened
our capital base in March 2005 by refinancing our senior
debt ot advantageous terms that reduced the inferest rate
on that debt. Also during the year, we raised $70 million
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in capital through @ public equity offering and increased i | | |
our borrowing capacity under our credit focility fo $600 ‘l | MER"AGE OUTPERFORMS INDICES
|
|

million. Moody's and Fitch credit rafing agencies rewarded
Meritage for strong performance and financial management,
upgrading the Company’s ratings to Ba2 from Ba3 and fo
BB from BB-, respectively.

- IMERITAGE HOMES [MTH)
I DOW JONES US HOME CONSTRUCTION INDEX
DOWJONES INDUSTRIAL AVERAGE

The12% rise in MTH share price in 2005, dlthough less
dramatic than in 2004, beat the major stock market
indices handily for the sixth consecutive year. Over the
past five years, Meritage's stock price has achieved a
compounded annual growin rate of 47%, as compared fo
the S&P 500 and Dow Jones Indusirial Average, which
were relafively flot, and the 37% CAGR for the top 20
oublic homebuilders. And, since Meritage became o
publicly fraded homebuilder af the end of 1994, our sfock
price has achieved a 48% CAGR.

We manage our business for the long term, with the goal
of maximizing returns to our stockholders, and we believe
that the repurchase of stock af afiractive prices can help us

meet those objectives. Early in 2006, the Company

completed a previously authorized $50 million share
repurchase program and announced an addifional
authorization fo repurchase shares up fo $100 million.

Pre-Tax Margin Exceeds Goal

During 2005, demand and price appreciation were
exceplionally strong in some of our markets.  This, combined
with our quality locations and home designs, increased our
average sales prices in many locations.  Additionally, our
increasing scale and improved leverage in our supply
chain yielded cost savings. These factors helped drive our
pre-tax margin up 285 basis points to 13.9% in 2005, the
highest level we have achieved as o public company.

Our historic average and targef range for pre-fax margin

remain foday at 10% to 12%.






Coast-to-Coast Operations Bring Balance

And Opportunity

levels of demand and price appreciation in some markefs,
such as Norhern California, are moderating and returning fo
more fypical growth rates. We do, however, expect fo see
significant expansion in Southern California stemming from our
acquisition there two years ago. We consider Meritage fo
have a solid foundation for growth in las Vegas; and fo further
sirengthen our posifion in Nevada, we have established a new
division in Reno.

We are experiencing solid demand in Texas, where the market
has been very compeiitive over the past few years. The dollar
value of our Texas sales orders grew 40% in the fourth quarter
and 31% for the enfire year. Wit over 100 Texas communifies,
we are ranked among the top 10 builders in three of our four
markels. Ve believe we will confinue fo grow in Texas, in
part, through the diversification of our product. We have
expanded our Monferey Homes luxury brand in Ausfin and
Dallas/Ft. Worth and plan fo take the brand to Houston. I
2005, we dlso reposifioned our Legacy Homes brand fo target
entrylevel buyers and infroduced our first fownhome project
under the legacy name.

In Avizona, our active adult division complements our fraditional
moveup and luxury communifies and increases our potentil
market share. Arizona was a sfrong market for us in 2003,
posting 33% order value increases for both the fourth quarter
and Jull year.

As menfioned earlier, our eniry into Florida was a highlight of
2005, with our two acquisiions augmenting our December 2004
Orlando startup division. In 2005, Florida cifies represented
25% of the counry’s top 20 housing markels, based on the
number of singlefamily permits.* In our view, Florida will continue
o benefit from an increasing immigrant population and the
wave of refiring baby boomers, as well as the fraditional
inmigration of relocation and tourismeelted residens in the future.

e e e

The Glen Abbey / Plon 3 / Plano, TX

*US Housing Reperts/Hanley Wood Morke! Intelligence
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Also in 2005, we delivered our first homes in Denver, a
market we entered through a startup operation in May
2004 and where we control about 1,500 home sites.

Our record vear in 2005 would not have been possible
without the confinued dedication of Meritage employees,
suppliers and subconfractors from coast fo coast. Their
commitment o delivering quality homes, uncommon value
and care for our customers has been the foundation for our
confinued success.

Larger, More Sophisticated Builders

~ Are Gaining Market Share
Over the past decade, the housing market has successfully
weathered a wide range of economic conditions with solid and
steady growth. Also over this time, large public homebuilders,
like Meritage, have changed from small, enfrepreneuricl
companies o welkmanaged, mulfibillion dollar businesses -
with broad geographic and product diversity, sfrong
balance sheefs, and the expertise and financial strength fo
successfully acquire and develop land. These sirengths are
reflected in the increasing market share enjoyed by public
builders over the last decade.

Housing Fundamentals Are Conducive To
Continued Success

As we look forward, we believe the longterm fundamentals
of homebuilding remain excellent - supported by a growing
population, a solid economic and employment environment,
favorable inferest rates and high consumer confidence,
particularly in the southern and western United States where
Meritage operates. Demographic frends are favorable, as
baby boomers, echo boomers and immigranis are predicied
o create continued housing demand. The Harvard Joint
Center for Housing Studies has projected fofal U.S. housing
starts fo average two million per year over the next decade,
approximately 20% higher than the average of almost 1.7
million over the past 10 vears.

LARGE BUILDERS ARE:GROWING -
MARKET SHARE

'*i Top 20 builders’ market share 7
'+ more than doubled since 1993,

2004
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land development resrictions are likely to intensify, which
should conribute fo a favorable supply and demand equation
for homebuilders. The consolidation of our industry is far
from complete, as large public builders, like us, still account
for less than 30% of the national market. We believe our
compefitive advaniages over smaller builders are increasing.
As a larger builder, we enjoy preferred access fo land ond
capital, and economies of scale that can benefit our margins,
Meritage has produced among the highest growth rates in
our sector. Although our growth may continue at a more e "
modercte rote than achieved over the lost five years - wio AT ®LI T

we believe Meritage will continue 1o reap the benefits of 20/ cﬁ.”d’¢% i
being a large builder and enjoy unique growth opportunities
because of our entrepreneurial
philosophy and our size relative fo
our peers.

Meritage Optimism Is Founded
On Proven Strategy, Ability To
Execute And Housing Trends
We are encouraged by our yearend

backlog value of $2.2 billion, 65%
higher than the beginning of 2005.
Though the economic fides are
bound to ebb and flow from year to
vear, we believe that the business
environment for public homebuilders
will be positive for the long term.
We have confidence in our strategy
for growth by organic expansion,
selective acquisitions and startup
operations - strategy that has
enabled us fo double revenue every
two fo fhree years since becoming a
publicly traded homebuilder.






Alihough we are one of the nation's largest builders, we are
among the top 10 builders in just six of our 14 markets. We
have room fo grow in each — especially as we expand info
new product niches, and are just beginning fo aggressively
pursue muliifamily, uban, aciive adult and enfry-level market
segments.

FUTURE HOUSING TRENDS SUPPOR
MERITAGE’S GROWTH GOALS

5

We have ample lofs under control to support our growin,
with option confracts that minimize risk and remain consistent
with our conservalive business model. As a large public
buildes, we enjoy advaniages in our ability to raise capital
and secure land, our purchasing power and the awareness
of our brand.

DEMOGRAPHICS ARE
DRIVING DEMAND

For all these reasons, we are opfimistic about our future.
We expect o deliver our 19th consecutive year of record
revenue and net eamings and fo confinue achieving superior
returns for our stockholders in 2006 and beyond. In our
view, Meritage combines ihe strengths of a large builder,
coupled with the speed and agility of a small builder, and
has much more room to grow and prosper.

Y7 A

John R. Landon Steven J. Hilton
Co-Chairman and Co-Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Executive Officer




FINANCIAL HIGH”GHTS . UNAUD"ED (Dollars in thousands, except per share cmounts)

2005 004 2003 2002 W01 2000 19% 1998 1997
L. Income Statement Data

Home closing revenue $2996946  $2015,742  $1461981 $1112439 | § 742,576 $ 515428 § 334007 8 255985 § 149,385
Home closing gross margin 23.6% 19.9% 19.9% 192% | A2% 0 02% 19.1% 20.1% 16.7%
Net earnings © $ 255,665 8 138968 & 04406 S 69937 § 50659 § 35762 § 18945 § 240030 § 142370

Net margin 85% 6% 64%  62%
Diluted earnings per share @ § 888 § 53§ 34§ 266

6.8% 6.9% 5% . 93% 9.5%
\$ 25§ 15§ 01§ 0% § 08

11 Operating Data
Average price of homes closed M) U Y1 T A B {$ W § B/ s MW 5 W5 W

Homes closed 9,406 124 5,042 4574 | 3 220 1,643 1,291 044
Homes ordered 10571 9,007 6,152 4,504 06 2480 1340 1,466 693
Dollar value of homes ordered §$3,580,855 32604948  §1,634988  §1,161,899 \ $ 700104 § 604444 § 388158 § 28346 § 157479
Order backlog 6,394 4,408 2,580 2070 | 1602 1,246 883 688 m
Dollar value of order backlog $2,181600  $1320951 § 710,711 § 537764 1 $ 37495 $“ 300001 § 199445 § 145294 .§ 98963
Actively selling communities 184 139 123 108 - 4 3 Ih
|
1H. Balance Sheet Data \ .
Real estate @ $1390803 S 867218 § 678011 § 484970 1§ 330238 20307 $ 17012 § 104759 § 63953
Total assets ® 1971357 1265394 954539 691,788 \ 436715 260005 2659 152250 96,034
Loans payable & other borrowings ® 592,124 41415 351491 %4927 | 17361 8612 85,937 37,205 22,892
Stockholders’ equity 851,005 522,955 411895 317308 ] (76,587 121,099 90411 7,219 46,365
Book value per share ® § 331§ W § 15§ 112 \\ 805 8§ 393 0§ 48 § 339 0§ 113
IV. Return Data \
Return on average assets 15.8% 125% 5% 124% 45% 145% 10.0% 193% 16.8%
Return on average equity 31.2% 29.7% 259% 28.3% W% 8% B.3% 40.5% 38.8%

(1) 1997 and 1998 net earnings include income and gains from residual and loan assets that were disposed of by the end of 1998 and the benefit from Meritage’s net operating loss
carryforward which was completely utilized during 1998, both obtained from our public predecessor (Homeplex Mortgage Investment Corporation.) These items contributed approximately $8.0
and $8.8 million to our 1997 and 1998 net earnings, respectively.

(2) All per share results have been restated to reflect our January 2005 and April 2002 stock sphits.

(3) 2004 and 2005 amounts include the construction costs and related debt associated with model homes which are owned and leased to us by others and that we use to market our communities. Such
amounts were not included in our balance sheet for previous years. Reference is made to footnote (3) to the audited ﬁnanCJaJ staternents inchuded in this annual report,

(4) Retum on average assets is defined as net eamings divided by average totaf assets for the year. Retum on average eqmty is defined as net eamings divided by avemge stockholders' equity for the year.

{5) Net eamings and diluted earnings per share for 2003 include the impact of a one-time bond refinancing charge dunng the year of $19.3 mﬂhon and $0.67, respectively. Excluding the one-time charge, net
eamings would have been $275 million; net margin, 9.2% and diluted eamings per share, $9.55.

\

The annual report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are based on the curtent beliefs and
expectations of management and are subject to significant risk and uncertainties. These uncertainties and other factors that may affect our future operating results and financial condition are
set forth in our Annwal Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Risk Factors.”
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PARTI
Item 1. Business
The Company

Meritage Homes is a leading designer and builder of single-family attached and detached homes in the fast-growing
southern and western United States, based on the number of home closings. We offer a \varietv of homes that are deigned to
appeal to a wide range of homebuyers, including first-time, move-up, luxury and acnve]‘adult buyers. We have operations in
14 metropolitan areas in six states.

Our homebuilding and marketing activities are conducted under the name of M1eritage Homes in each of our
markets, except for certain communities in Arizona, where we operate under the name of Monterey Homes, in Texas, where
we operate in certain communities as Legacy Homes and Monterey Homes and in cer(am communities in Florida, where we
operate as Greater Homes. At December 31, 2005, we were actively selling homes in 184 communities, wnh base prices

ranging from approximately $109,000 to $1,147,000.
Availoble Information; Corporate Governance

Meritage Homes Corporation was incorporated in 1988 as a real estate investme‘m trust in the State of Maryland. In
1996 and 1997, through a merger and acquisition, we acquired the homebuilding operati?ns of our predecessor companies
having operations in Arizona and Texas. We currently focus exclusively on homebuilding and related activities and no longer

operate as a real estate investment trust.

Information about our company and communities is provided on our Internet websne at www.meritagehomes.com.
Our periodic and current reports, including any amendments, filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) are available, free of charge, on our website as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The
information contained on our website is not considered part of this annual report on Form 10-K.

Meritage operates within a comprehensive plan of corporate governance for the purpose of defining responsibilities
and setting high standards for ethical conduct. Qur Board of Directors has established an éudit commifiee, executive
compensation committee and nominating/governance committee. The charter of each of these committees is available on our
website. [n addition, we have made available on our website our Code of Ethics and our Corporate Governance Principles
and Practices. Our committee charters, Code of Ethics and Corporate Governance Prmcxpl‘es and Practices are also available
in print, free of charge, to any stockholder who requests any of them by calling us or by writing to us at our principal
exccutive offices in Arizona at the following address: Meritage Homes Corporation, 17851 North 85" Street, Suite 300,

Scottsdale, Arizona 85255, Attention: Legal Department. Our telephone number is (480) 609 3330,
Competitive Strengths
We believe Meritage possesses the following competitive strengths:

Conservative inventory management. We seek to minimize land and inventory risk in order to optimize our use of
capital and maintain moderate leverage ratios. We accomplish this by:

*  generally purchasing land after full entitlements have been obtained, including zoning and utility services;

¢ developing smaller parcels, which generally consist of projects that can be completed within a three-year
period;

*  controlling a significant portion of our land inventory through rolling options and land purchase contracts
with initial deposit requirements typicatly between 1% and 15% of the lapd price;

* " managing housing inventory by pre-selling and obtaining customer deposits on a significant majority of our
homes prior to starting construction;

*  limiting construction starts on unsold homes; and

|
* minimizing home construction cycles. |

Disciplined financial management. We believe that our disciplined financial management policies enable us to
achieve above-average returns on assets compared to our competitors in the homebuilding industry and to maintain
reasonable leverage ratios. Our rigorous investment requirements for our new communities, whether developed internally or
acquired, enable us to deploy capital efficiently and to gencrate strong cash flows to fund the acquisition of additional land or
homebuilding operations.




Strong margins. We believe that our focus on ‘achieving good margins results in greater profitability during strong
economic periods and also enables us to realize lower break-even points to provide greater pricing flexibility during slower
economic periods. In addition to maintaining low overhead costs, we actively manage construction costs and pricing and
marketing strategies in order to maximize margins. Welseek 10 optimize our mix of available housing upgrades and
customization features to offer the highest value to customers at the lowest cost. Within our pricing structure we provide our
sales and marketing professionals with the avtonomy ar%d flexibility to respond rapidly to changing market dynamics by
customizing our sales programs and customer incentives.

Experienced management team with sigm'ﬁcan{ equity ownership. Members of our senior management team have
extensive experience in the homebuilding industry as well as in-depth knowledge of the local markets that we serve. OQur co-
chief executive officers and senior executives have extensive homebuilding experience and each has delivered successful
results through varying homebuilding cycles. At March ]1, 2006, our co-chief executive officers together beneficially owned
approximately 15% of our outstanding common stock.

Product breadth and geographic diversity. We Pelieve that our product breadth and geographic diversity enhance
our growth potential and help to reduce exposure to any specific economic cycle. We tailor our product offerings to tocal
markets and changing demographics and customer preferences. In all of our markets we typically focus on the first and
second-time move up markets. We also offer niche prodt‘lcts in certain markets. For example, in Arizona, Texas and
California we build within the [uxury market; in Cahforma and Florida we build within the multi-story condo market; in
Arizona we build within the active adult market and in Arizona, Texas and Reno, Nevada we build within the first-time

market.
Business Strategies
We seek to distinguish ourselves from other production homebuilders through the following business strategies:

Focus on high growth markets. Our operations are located in six rapidly growing western and southern states: Texas,
Arizona, Califomnia, Nevada, Colorado and Florida. These areas are generally characterized by high job and population
growth trends, creating strong demand for new housing, and we believe these (o be attractive homebuilding markets with
opportunities for long-term growth. Our operations in Te)%as, Arizona, California and Nevada are well established and we
believe that we have developed a reputation for building distinctive quality homes within these markets.

Expand into new and within existing markets. We continuously evaluate expansion oppertunities through strategic
acquisitions of other homebuilders and internal growth thr‘ough expansion of our product offering in existing markets or start-
up operations in new geographic areas. In pursning expanéion, we explore markets with demographic and other growth
characteristics similar to our current markets and seck to acquire entities with operating policies and eamings-focused
philosophies similar to ours. Within the last two years, we‘\bevanstar{ -up operations in Denver, Colorado, Orlando, Florida
and Reno, Nevada, and acquired operations in Ft. Myers/Naples and Orlando, Florida, which we believe are geographic

markets that possess excellent demographic and growth charactensncs

| .
In the past eight years we have successfully completed eight acquisitions, enabling us to substantially increase our
revenue and earnings, expand our geographic footprint, increase our share of existing markets and develop new product lines,
such as active adult housing for the Arizona retirement market and condominiums in certain markets.

Maintain low cost structure. Throughout our history, we have focused on minimizing construction costs and
averhead, which we believe are key factors in maintaining high margins and profitability. We reduce costs and overhead by:

*  using subcontractors for home construction andsite improvement on a fixed-price basis;

*  obtaining favorable pricing from subcontractors| through long-term relationships and high volume;

¢ reducing interest and carrying costs by mininﬁzing our inventory of unsold homes and minimizing the home
construction cycle;

¢ delaying construction on a home until it is undeq contract, we have received a substantial earnest money deposit
and the buyer has obtained preliminary approval‘i for a mortgage loan;

* centralizing certain administrative activities; and
*  monitoring homebuilding production, scheduling and budgeting through management information systems.
[

Superior design, quality and cusiomer service. We “seek to maximize customer satisfaction by offering homes that
are built with quality materials and craftsmanship, exhibit ditstinctive design features and are situated in premium locations.
We believe that we generally offer higher caliber homes in their defined price range or category compared to those built by
our competitors. In addition, we seek to achieve the highest level of customer satisfaction as an integrat part of our



competitive strategy. For example, as part of the sales process, our experienced sales personnel continually inform customers
of their home’s construction progress, and after delivery, our customer care departments respond to homebuyers’ questions
and warranty matters. "

Markets and Products

We currently build and sell homes in the following markets:

Markets Year Entered
PROCIEX ..covovesvieeresesee s ceen e 1985
Dallas/Fort Worth.........coooooevvomnricvreiviens s 1987
AUSHI oo st 1994
Tucson 1995
Houston........ccoooooee.. 1997
San Francisco Bay Area 1998
SACTAMENO ..o e 1998
LS VEZAS .oocoeerceercercenrnceriemnsss s s 2002
San Antonio 2003
Los Angeles (Inland Empire) 2004
DEOVET covoovoeteriir s vesissaresesenans 2004
Orlando ..o, e e 2004
REDO.covvvi oot svsenns e ressisss e res 2005
FL Myers/Naples ..o 2003

The chart above reflects the dates our predecessor companies entered our Texas and Arizona markets.

Our homes range from entry level to semi-custom luxury, with base prices ranging from approximately $109,000 to
$1,147,000. A summary of activity by state as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005, follows (dollars in thousands):

#of Avp. Homes #of

Homes Closing in $ Value of Home Sites Active
Closed Price Backlog Backl‘og Controlled (1)  Communities
3576 § 220.1 2173 § 50%,465 15,667 108
3,122 279.7 2427 838 702 16,425 35
1,627 582.2 714 420 964 8,285 20
Nevada oo 541 3732 349 126,400 3,356 6
Florida 332 347.1 699 274247 9,349 12
Colorado 8 351.1 3 11,822 1,027 3
Total Company............... 9406 § 3186 6394 § 2,181\,600 54,109 184

(1) “Home Sites Controlled” is the estimated number of homes that could be built on lots controlled by the Company, both
on lots available for sale and on land expected to be developed into lots. ‘

Land Acquisition and Development \

We typically acquire land only after necessary entitlements have been obtained s!o that development or construction
may begin as market conditions dictate. The term “entitlements” refers to development agreements, tentative maps or
recorded plats, depending on the jurisdiction within which the land is located. Entitlemen‘yts generally give the developer the
right to obtain building permits upon compliance with conditions that are ordinarily within the developer’s control. Even
though entitlements are usually obtained before land 1s purchased, we are still required to|secure a variety of other
governmental approvals and permuts during development. The process of obtaining such approvals and permits can
substantially delay the development process. We may consider, on a limited basis, purchasmg unentitled property when we
can do so in a manner consistent with our business strategy. Although historically we havF generally developed parcels
ranging from 100 to 300 lots, in order to achieve and maintain an adequate inventory of I?ts we are beginning to purchase
larger parcels, in many cases with joint venture partners. In some cases, these joint ventures purchase undeveloped fand and

develop the land themselves.

We select land for development based upon a variety of factors, including:

*  demographic factors, based on extensive internal and external marketing studies;




*  suitability for development generally within a one to four-year time period from the beginning of the
development process to the delivery of the last home;

* financial feasibility of the proposed project, including pm}ected profit margins, returns on capital

employed, and the capital payback pe}lod

¢ the ability to secure governmental approvals and entitlements;
*  results of environmental and legal due diligence;
*  proximity to local traffic corridors and amenities; and

* management’s judgment as to the real'estate market and economic trends, and our experience in particular
markets.

We acquire land through options and land purchase contracts. Purchases are generally financed through our
revolving credit facility or working capital. Acquiring oﬁ‘r land through option contracts allows us to control lots and land
through third parties who own or buy properties on whicl\q we plan to build homes. We enter into option contracts to purchase
finished lots at a certain price during a specified period of time from these third parties as home construction begins. These
contracts are generally non-recourse and typically requin‘? the payment of non-refundable deposits of 1% to 15% of the sales
price. At December 31, 2003, we had approximately $167.5 million in cash deposits and $81.5 million in letters of credit
deposits on real estate under option or contract. The total|value of land under option or contract at that time was
approximately $2.8 billion. Additional information relating to our lots and land under option is presented in Note 3 -
Variable Interest Entities and Consolidated Real Estate Not Owned, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

\
s [ .
Once we secure land, we generally initiate development through contractual agreements with subcontractors. These
activities include site planning and engineering, as well as“ constructing road, sewer, water, utilities, drainage, recreation
facilities and other improvements and refinements. We often build homes in master-planned communities with home sites

. . 1
that are along or near a major amenity, such as a golf course.

We develop a design and marketing concept tailotred to each community, which includes the determination of size,
style and price range of homes. We also determine street layout, individual lot size and layout, and overall community design
for these projects. The product lines offered depend upon many factors, including the housing generally available in the arca,
the needs of a particular market, and our lot costs for the p~rolect though we are sometimes able to use standardized design
plans for a product line. \

The following table presents information as of December 31, 2005 (dollars in thousands):

Lots Under

Contract Total Lots

Lots Owned (1) +_or Option (1)(2) Controlled
TEXAS v vttt sensanens I 3022 12,645 15,667
FiN §7/0) (OO 995 15,430 16,425
L0171 1070 11T HOOO OO 333 1952 8,285
Nevada.... 280 3,076 3,356
Colorado, 41 986 1,027
Florida 230 ‘ 9,119 9,349
Total ..o \ 4,901 49208 54,109
Total book cost (3)......c..ocoevrrerrvverrenene 3 \ 370,921 $ 166,964 $ 537,885

h Excludes lots with finished homes or homes under construction. The number of lots is estimated and is subject to
change.

{2)*  There can be no assurance that we will actually acquire any lots under option or properties in which we have entered
into a varety of contractual relationships, including purchasé agreements with customary conditions precedent and other
similar arrangements. These amounts do not include 9,098 10‘}5 under contract with refundable earnest money deposits of
approximately $0.6 million for which we have not completed‘ due diligence and, accordingly, have no money at risk and are
under no obligation to perform under the contract, but include 4,673 lots under option contracts with joint ventures in which

we are a member,

3 For Lots Owned, book cost primarily represents Iand‘, development, interest and common costs. For Lots Under
Contract or Option, book cost primarily represents eamest deposits and option deposits.



Construction Operations

We act as the general contractor for our projects and typically hire subcontractors on a project-by-project or
reasonable geographic-proximity basis to complete construction at a fixed price. We u§llally enter into agreements with
subcontractors and materials suppliers on an individual basis after receiving compelitiYe bids, when appropriate. We obtain
information from prospective subcontractors and suppliers with respect to their ﬁnanci“al condition and ability to perform
their agreements before formal bidding begins. Occasionally, we enter into longer-term contracts with subcontractors and
suppliers if we can obtain more favorable terms to minimize costs of construction. Our‘ project managers and field
superintendents coordinate and supervise the activities of subcontractors and suppliers, subject the development and
construction work to quality and cost controls, and monitor compliance with zoning and building codes. At December 31,

2003, we employed approximately 950 construction operations personnel.

We specify that quality, durable materials be used in construction of our home‘s and we do not maintain significant
inventories of construction materials, except for work in process materials for homes under construction. When possible, we
negotiate price and volume discounts with manufacturers and suppliers on behalf of ou}N subcontractors to'take advantage of
production volume. Historically, access to our principal subcontracting trades, materials and supplies has been readily
available in each of our markets. Prices for these goods and services may fluctuate due to various factors, including supply
and demand shortages that may be beyond the control of our vendors. We believe that we have good relationships with our

suppliers and subcontractors.

We generally build and sell homes in clusters or phases within our larger projects, which we believe creates
efficiencies in land development and construction, and improves customer satisfaction by reducing the number of vacant lots
surrounding a completed home. Our homes are typically completed within four to nine r‘nonths from the start of construction,
depending upon the geographic location and the home size and complexity. Construction schedules may vary depending on
the availability of labor, materials and supplies, product type, location and weather. Our\homes are usually designed to
promote efficient use of space and materials, and to minimize construction costs and time. We typically have not entered into
any derivative contracts to hedge against weather or materials fluctuations as we do not believe they are particularly

advantageous to our operations. ‘
Marketing and Sales

We believe that we have an established reputation for developing high quality homes, which helps generate interest
in each new project. We also use advertising and other promotional activities, including our website at
wiww.meritagehomes.com, magazine and newspaper advertisements, brochures, direct mailings and the placement of

strategically located signs in the vicinities around our developments.

We use furnished model homes as tools in demonstrating to prospective homebuyers the advantages of our home
designs and various features. We generally employ or contract with interior and landscap% designers who are responsible for
creating an attractive model home with many built-in options for each product line withir‘} a project. We generally build
between one and four model homes for each actively selling community, depending upon the number of homes to be built in
the project and the products to be offered. Often, we lease our model homes from institutional investors who own the homes
for investment purposes or from individual buyers who do not intend to occupy the home\immediately. At December 31,
2005, we owned or leased 353 model homes, with an additional 95 models under construction. Total monthly payments for

these models are approximately $505.000, of which approximately $216,000 is accounted for as interest on debt related to
our model lease program.

Our homes generally are sold by full-time, commissioned employees who typically work from a sales office located
in one of the model homes for each project. At December 31, 2005, we had 370 sales and \marketing personnel. Our goal is to
ensure that our sales force has extensive knowledge of our operating policies and housing|products. To achieve this goal, we
train our sales associates and conduct periodic meetings to update them on sales technique‘s, competitive products in the area,
financing availability, construction schedules, marketing and advertising plans and the ava‘iilable product lines, pricing,
options and warranties offered. Our sales associates are licensed real estate agents where required by law. Independent
brokers also sell our homes, and are usually paid a sales commission based on the price of|the home. Our sales associates
assist our customers in selecting upgrades or in adding available customization features to|their homes, which we design to
appeal to local consumer demands. Occasionally we offer various sales incentives, such as landscaping or interior upgrades,

10 attract buyers. The use and type of incentives depends largely on economic and local competitive market conditions.

Backlog \

Most of our home sales are made under standard sales contracts signed before construction of the home begins. The
contracts require cash deposits and are usually subject to certain contingencies such as the Puyer’s ability to qualify for
financing. Homes covered by such sales contracts but not yet closed are considered “backlog.” Sales contingent upon the
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sale of a customer’s existing home are not included as new sales contracts until the contingency is removed. We do not
recognize revenue upon the sale of a home until it is delivered to the homebuyer and other criteria for sale and profit
recognition are met. We sometimes build homes before ‘obtaining a sales contract; however, these homes are excluded from
backlog until a sales contract is signed. At December 31‘ 2005, of our homes in inventory, 11% were under construction
without sales contracts and 3% were completed homes w1thout sales contracts. We believe that we will deliver substantially

all homes in backlog at December 31, 2005 to custormers during 2006.

Our backlog increased to 6,394 units with a value of approximately $2.2 billion at December 31, 2005 from 4,408
units with a value of approximately $1.3 billion at December 31, 2004. These increases are primarily due to additional
communities that opened for sale in 2003, our 2005 acqu(isitions in Florida and strong new home orders in 2005.

Customer Financing

We attempt to help qualified homebuyers who require financing to obtain loans from mortgage lenders that offer a
variety of financing options. We provide mortgage-broker services in most of our markets through relationships with
mortgage-brokers, generally through joint ventures in whtich we have a non-controlling interest, which facilitate obtaining
customer loans on behalf of third party lenders. In some rparkets we use unaffiliated preferred mortgage lenders. We may pay
a portion of the closing costs and discount mortgage points to assist homebuyers with financing. We do not fund or service
the mortgages obtained by our homebuyers, and therefore do not assume the risks associated with a mortgage banking
business. Since many customers use long-term mortgage tﬁnancing to purchase homes, adverse economic conditions, rising

mortgage interest rates and increases in unemployment may deter or reduce the number of potential homebuyers.
Customer Relations, Quality Control and Warranty Programs

We believe that positive customer relations and a“n adherence to stringent quality control standards are fundamental
to our continued success, and that our commitment to buyer satisfaction and quality control has significantly contributed to
our reputation as a high quality builder.

A Meritage project manager of project superintendent and a customer relations representative generally oversee
compliance with quality control standards for each community. These representatives perform the following tasks:

*  oversee home construction;
*  oversee subcontractor and supplier performance;

*  review the progress of each home and conduct formal inspections as specific stages of construction are
completed; and

*  regularly update buyers on the progress of their homes and coordmate the closing process.

We generally provide for each home a one- to two-year limited warranty on workmanship and building materials
and a two- to ten-year structural warranty, which may be provided by a third party insurer. We generally require our
subcontractors to provide an indemnity and a certificate of 1 insurance before beginning work, which means that claims
relating to workmanship and materials are generally the subcontractors responsibility. Reserves for future warranty costs are
established based on historical experience within each lels;on or region, and are recorded when the homes are closed.

Reserves generally range from .30% to .78% of a home's sale price. Historically, these reserves have been sufficient to cover
warranty repairs.

Competition and Market Factors

The development and sale of residential property is a highly compemwe industry. We compete for sales in each of
our markets with national, regional and local developers anq homebuilders, existing home resales, and to a lesser extent,
condominiums and rental housing. Some of our competitors \]have significantly.greater financial resources, lower costs and/or
more favorable land positions than we do. Competition among both small and large residential homebuilders is based on a
number of interrelated factors, including location, reputanon amenities, design, quality and price. We believe that we

compare favorably to other homebuilders in the markets in which we operate due to our:

¢ experience within our geographic markets which|allows us to develop and offer new products;

¢ ability to recognize and adapt to changing market conditions, including from a capital and human resource
perspective; \

*+  ability to capitalize on opportunities to acquire land on favorable terms; and
*  reputation for outstanding service and quality products.



Government Regulation and Environmental Matters

We acquire most of our land after entitlements have been obtained. Construction may begin almost immediately on
such entitled land upon compliance with and receipt of specified permits, approvals and other conditions, which generally are
within our control. The time needed to obtain such approvals and permits affects the carrying costs of unimproved property
acquired for development and construction. The continued effectiveness of permits alréady granted 1s subject to factors such
as changes in government policies, rules and regulations, and their interpretation and application. To date, the government
approval processes discussed above have not had a material adverse effect on our development activities, although there is no

assurance that these and other restrictions will not adversely affect future operations.

Local and state governments have broad discretion regarding the imposition of development fees for projects under
their jurisdictions. These fees are normally established when we receive recorded mapsLand building permits. In addition,
communities occasionally impose construction moratoriums. Because most of our Jand s entitled, construction moratoriums
generally would not affect us in the near term unless they arose from health, safety or welfare issues, such as insufficient
water, electric or sewage facilities. In the long term, we could become subject to delaysjor may be precluded entirely from
developing communities due 1o building moratoriums, “no growth” or “slow growth” inlitiatives or building permit atlocation

ordinances, which could be implemented in the future. i

We are also subject to a variety of local, state, and federal statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning the
protection of health and the environment. In some markets, we are subject to environmentally sensitive land ordinances that
mandate open space arcas with public elements in housing developments, and prevent d[evelopment on hillsides, wetlands and
other protected areas. We must also comply with flood plain restrictions, desert wash area restrictions, native plant
regulations, endangered species acts and view restrictions. These and similar laws may result in delays, cause substantial
compliance and other costs, and prohibit or severely restrict development in certain environmentally sensitive regions or
areas. To date, compliance with such ordinances has not materially affected our operatio‘ns, although it may do so in the

future. «

We usually will condition our obligation to acquire property on, among other lh‘ings, an environmental review of the
land. To date, we have not incurred any unanticipated liabilities relating to the removal of unknown toxic wastes or other
environmental matters. However, there i no assurance that we will not incur material liabilities in the future relating to toxic

waste retnoval or other environmental matters affecting land currently or previously owned.
Employees and Subcontractors

At December 31, 2003, we had approximately 1,810 full-time employees, incluqing 490 in management and
administration, 370 in sales and marketing, and 950 in construction operations. Our empl?yees are not unionized, and we
beheve that we have good employee relationships. We pay for a substantial portion of the insurance costs, with the balance

contributed by the employees. We also have a 401(k) savings plan, which is available to most of our employees.

We act solely as a general contractor, and all construction operations are conduc}ed by our project managers and
field superintendents who manage third party subcontractors. We use independent contractors for construction, architectural

and advertising services, and we strive to maintain good relationships with our subcontractors and independent contractors.
Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

We participate in numerous joint ventures with independent third parties (approxjmately 20 joint ventures at
December 31,2005) relating to the purchase and development of land. We generally have less than a controlling interest in
these types of entities. We typically enter into in these joint ventures with other homebui]d\ers to provide the joint venture
partners with a means of accessing larger parcels and lot positions. The typical joint venture acquires raw land and processes
the property through the entitlement stage and, in some cases, develops the property into p’artially or fully finished lots. These
joint ventures are usually obligated to sell all or a part of the property or lots to the joint venture members (at the respective
member’s option), generally at prevailing fair market values (either at the time of acquisili‘?n or the time of sale). In some
cases, part of the property is sold to non-member homebuilders, commercial developers and other third parties. Qur
participation in these types of joint ventures, which is an increasingly important part of our“ business model, has increased
during the last couple of years and we expect it to continue to increase in the foreseeable future.

In connection with these types of joint ventures, we and/or joint venture partners f‘)rovide certain types of repayment
guarantees, indemnification arrangements with surety and performance bond providers andjenvironmental indemnities.

Reference is made to Part 11, Item 7 in this Annual Report titled “Management’s Discussio? and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” for a discussion ?f these items.

We also participate in joint ventures relating to the provision of mortgage brokerage and title services. The purpose
{
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of these joint ventures is to establish relationships with providers of mortgage brokerage and title services in order to
facilitate the design of products that can be offered to O‘I‘Il‘ customers at attractive prices in a convenient manner. We believe
these types of joint ventures provide a valuable service (o our customers and provide us with additional revenue and profit

opportunities, although at the current time these types of arrangements are not a significant component of our business.

At December 31, 2003, we had approximately ?86.4 miflion invested in joint ventures involved in the purchase,
development and/or sale of land. We also had approximately $2.3 million invested in mortgage brokerage and title service
joint ventures. In 2005, we reported pre-tax earnings of 59 3 million related to our share of the eamnings of our land joint
ventures and $9.0 million related to our share of the eammgs of our mortgage-brokerage and title service joint ventures, For
our land joint ventures, we do not recognize profits on lots or land that we acquire from the joint venture, but instead defer
any profits until we sell the related homes to third party ?omebuyers.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our future operating results and financial condition depend on our ability to successfully design, develop, construct
and sell homes that satisfy dynamic customer demand patterns. Inherent in this process are factors that we must successfully
manage to achieve favorable future operating results andfinancial condition. These operating and financial factors, along
with many other factors, could affect our business and the price of our common stock and notes. Potential risks and
uncertainties that could affect our future operating results and financial condition include the following:

Interest Rates and Mortgage Financing. In general housing demand is adversely affected by increases in interest
rates and the unavailability of mortgage financing. Most of our buyers finance their home purchases through third-party
lenders providing mortgage financing. If mortgage mteres:t rates increase and, consequently, the ability of prospective buyers
to finance home purchases is adversely affected, home sales, gross margins and cash flow may also be adversely affected and
the impact may be material. Long-term interest rates currently remain at low levels; however, rates have increased in the last

year from historically low levels and it is impossible to predict future increases or decreases in market interest rates.

Homebuilding activities depend upon the availabtility and costs of mortgage financing for buyers of homes owned by
potential customers, as those customers (move-up buyers)loften must sell their residences before they purchase our homes.
Morigage lenders have recently become subject to more intense underwriting standards by the regulatory authorities which
oversee them. More stringent underwriting standards could indirectly have a material adverse effect on our business if certain

buyers are unable to obtain mortgage financing.

Housing Affordability and Market Conditions. As|a participant in the homebuilding industry, we are subject to
market forces beyond our control. In general, housing demand is adversely affected by the affordability of housing. In recent
periods, the affordability of housing has declined in many (“)f our markets, which could adversely affect the ability of our
customers, particularly first-time homebuyers, to afford our product offerings. In addition, many homebuyers need to sell
their existing home in order to purchase a new home from gs and a weakening of the home sale market or a decrease or
leveling in home sale prices could adversely affect that ability. Some commentators believe that the prices of homes are
inflated and may decline if the demand for homes weakens| A decline in pnces for homes could have an adverse effect on our

homebu;ldmg business.

Cancellations. Our backlog reflects the number and value of homes for which we have entered into a sales contract
with a customer but have not yet delivered the home. Although these sales contracts typically require a cash deposit and do
not make the sale contingent on the sale of the customer’s e‘xisting home, in some cases a customer may cancel the contract
and receive a complete or partial refund of the deposit as a tesult of local laws or as a matter of our business practices. If
home prices begin to decline, interest rates increase or there!is a national or local economic decline, homebuyers may have an
incentive to cancel their contract with us, even where they might be entitled to no refund or only a partial refund. An increase
in cancellations could bave a material adverse effect on our business.

Future Expansion. We may continue to consider growth or expansion of our operations in our current markets o in
other areas of the country, Qur expansion into new or existing markets could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows
or profitabtlity. The magnitude, timing and nature of any futfgre expansion will depend on a number of factors, including
suitable acquisition candidates, the negotiation of acceptable) terms, our financial capabilities and general economic and
business conditions. New acquisitions may result in the incurrence of additional debt. Acquisitions also involve numerous
risks, including difficulties in the assimilation of the acquired company’s operations, the incurrence of unanticipated
liabilities or expenses, the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns, risks of entering markets in

which we have limited o1 no direct experience and the potem‘ial loss of key employees of the acquired company.

Dependence on Subcontractors. We conduct our construction operations only as a general contractor, Virtually all
architectural, construction and development work is performe\d by unaffiliated third-party subcontractors. As a consequence,
we depend on the continued availability of and satisfactory performance by these subcontractors for the design and
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construction of our homes. We cannot assure you that there will be sufficient availabili‘ty of and satisfactory performance by
these unaffiliated third-party subcontractors. In addition, inadequate subcontractor resources could have a material adverse

affect on our business.

Operating and Financial Limitations. The indentures for our senior notes and ;the agreement for our senior
unsecured credit facility impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us. These restrictions limit our ability and
the ability of our subsidiaries, among other things, to:

* incur additional indebtedness or liens;

*  pay dividends or make other distributions;

* repurchase our stock;

* make investments (including investments in joint ventures); or

¢ consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets. |

In addition, the indentures for our senior notes and the agreement for our senio\r unsecured credit facility require us
to maintain a minimum consolidated tangible net worth and our credit facility requires us to maintain other specified financial
ratios, including the amount and types of land, speculative housing and model homes that we may own at any given time. We .
cannot assure you that these covenants will not adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or

to pursue available business opportunities. A breach of any of these covenants or our inability to maintain the required
financial ratios could result in a default in respect of the related indebtedness. If a default occurs, the relevant lenders could

‘ ) . S
elect to declare the indebtedness, together with accrued interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable.

Increased Investments in Joint Ventures. We participate in numerous land acqu%sition and development joint
ventures with independent third parties, in which we have less than a controlling interest. Qur participation in these types of
Joint ventures has increased over the last couple of years and we expect it to continue to increase in the foreseeable future.
These joint ventures provide us with a means of accessing larger parcels and lot posilion“s and help us expand our marketing
opportunilies and manage our risk profile. However, these joint ventures often acquire parcels of raw land without
entitlements and as such are subject to a number of development risks that our business does not face directly. These risks
include the risk that anticipated projects could be delayed or terminated because applicable governmental approvals cannot be
obtained at reasonable costs, if at all. In addition, the risk of construction and development cost overruns can be greater for a
joint venture where it acquires raw land compared to our typical acquisition of entitled lots. These increased development and
entitlement risks could have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations if one or more joint
venture projects is delayed, cancelled or terminated or we are required, whether contractually or for business reasons, to

invest additional funds in the joint venture to facilitate the success of a particular project.

|

Our joint venture investments are generally very illiquid both because we lack a|controlling interest in the ventures
and because most of our joint ventures are structured to require super-majority or unanimous approval of the members to sell
a substantial portion of the joint venture’s assets or for a member to receive a return of their invested capital. Our lack of
controlling interest also results in the risk that the joint venture will take actions that we disagree with, or fail to take actions
that we desire.

Colonial Homes and Greater Homes Acquisitions. In February and September 2005, we completed the acquisitions
of substantially all of the homebuilding operations of Colonial Homes of Ft. Myers/N aplés, Florida, and Greater Homes of
Orlando, Florida, respectively. The integration of Colonial and Greater Homes into our o;‘?erations following the acquisitions
will involve a number of risks. In particular, the combined companies may experience attrition among management and
personnel. The integration process could also disrupt the activities of our current business; The integration of companies
requires, among other things, coordination of management, administrative and other functions. Failure to overcome these
challenges or any other problems encountered in connection with the acquisitions of Colonial and Greater Homes could cause
our financial condition, results of operations and competitive position to decline. Qur inte‘gration of the Colonial Homes and
Greater Homes acquisitions assumes certain synergies and other benefits. We cannot assure you that unforeseen factors will

not offset the intended benefits of the acquisition in whole or in part.

Attached Product and Condominium Offerings. In connection with the acquisitiop of Colonial, we became involved

in the construction and sale of multi-story condominium homes. Prior to this acquisition, our business has typically involved
only the construction and sale of single-family homes. The construction and sale of condo?n'nium homes involves different
construction processes and subcontractors and, to a degree, different customers. In addition, condominium homes typicaily

) ) ) | .
involve more extensive sales and warranty regulations. Although we now employ most of ‘the Colonial Homes employees
that were involved with the Colonial business (including condominium construction and sales), we have little prior

experience in the condominium business. In addition, we are expanding into condominium construction and sales in other

markets in which we operate and we face similar challenges and risks with such endeavors|
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Dependence on Key Personnel. Qur success largely depends on the continuing services of certain key employees,
including our Co-Chief Executive Officers, John R. Landon and Steven J. Hilton, and our ability to attract and retain
qualified personnel. We have employment agreements With Messrs. Landon and Hilton, but we do not have employment
agreements with certain other key employees. We believe that Messrs. Landon and Hilton each possess valuable industry
knowledge, experience and leadership abilities that would be difficult in the short term to rephcate In addition, Messrs.
Landon and Hilton have cultivated key contacts and relitlonshlps with important participants in the land acquisition process
in our various communities across the country. The losslof the services of key employees could harm our operations and
business plans.

Limited Geographic Diversification. We have operations in Texas, Arizona, California, Nevada, Colorado and
Florida. Our limited geographic diversification could adversely impact us if the homebuilding business in our current markets
should decline, since there may not be a balancing opportunity in a stronger market in other geographic regions.

Increased Insurance Costs. Recently, lawsuits have been filed against builders asserting claims of personal injury
and property damage caused by the presence of mold in residential dwellings, Some of these lawsuits have resulted in
substantial monetary judgments or settlements. We believe that we have maintained adequate insurance coverage to insure
against these types of claims for homes completed befor% October 1, 2003. Insurance carriers have been excluding from
policies of many homebuilders coverage for claims arising from the presence of mold for many builders and, as of October 1,
2003, our insurance policy began excluding mold coverage. If our retentions are not sufficient to protect against these types
of claims or if we are unable to obtain adequate insurance coverage, a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations could result if we are éxposed to claims arising from the presence of mold in the homes
that we build.

Natural Disasters. We have significant homebuilding operations in Texas, California and Florida. Some of our
markets in Texas and Florida occasionally experience extreme weather conditions such as tornadoes or hurricanes. California
has experienced a significant number of earthquakes, wildfires, flooding, landslides and other natural disasters in recent
years. We do not insure against some of these risks. These] occurrences could damage or destroy some of our homes under
construction or our building lots, which may result in losses that exceed our insurance coverage. We could also suffer
significant construction delays or substantial fluctuations 1 m the pricing or availability of building materials. Any of these

events could cause a decrease in our revenue, cash flows and earmngs.

Inflation. We, like other homebuilders, may be aqversely affected during periods of high inflation, mainly because
of higher land and construction costs. Also, higher mortgage interest rates may significantly affect the affordability of
mortgage financing to prospective buyers. Inflation increases our cost of financing, materials and labor and could cause our
financial results or growth to decline. We attempt to pass c\osl increases on to our customers through higher sales prices.
Although inflation has not historically had a material adverse effect on our business, recently the cost of some of the
materials we use to construct our homes has increased. Sustamed increases in material costs would have a material adverse

effect on our business if we are unable to increase home sale prices or home sale prices comparably decrease.

Home Warranty Factors. Construction defect and home warranty claims are common in the homebuilding industry
and can be costly. While we maintain product liability insurance and generally require our subcontractors and design
professionals to indemnify us for Liabilities arising from their work, we cannot assure you that these insurance rights and
indemnities will be adequate to cover all construction defect and warranty claims for which we may be held liable. For
example, we may be responsible for applicable self-insuredretenttons, which have increased recently, and certain claims may

not be covered by insurance or may exceed applicable coverage limits.

|

Homebuilding Industry Factors. The homebuilding industry is cyclical and is significantly affected by changes in
economic and other conditions such as employment levels, availability of financing, interest rates, and consumer confidence.
These factors can negatively affect demand for and cost of 3ur homes. We are-also subject to various risks, many of which
are outside of our control, including delays in construction schedules, cost overruns, changes in governmental regulations

|
{such as no- or slow-growth initiatives), increases in real estate taxes and other local government fees, and raw materials and
labor costs.

We are also subject to the potential for significant vanablllty and fluctuations in the cost and availability of real
estate. Although historically we have generally developed parcels ranging from 100 to 300 lots, in order to achieve and
maintain an adequate inventory of lots, we are beginning to purchase larger parcels, in many cases with a joint venture
partner. Write-downs of our real estate could occur if market conditions deteriorate and these write-downs could be material
in amount.

Fluctuations in Operating Results. We historically }}ave experienced, and expect to continue to experience,
variability in home sales and net earnings on a quarterly basis. As a result of such variability, our historical performance may
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not be a meaningful indicator of future results. Factors that contribute to this variability include:

¢ timing of home deliveries and land sales;

* delays in construction schedules due to strikes, adverse weather, acts of God, reduced subcontractor availability
and governmental restrictions;

*  our ability to acquire additional land or options for additional land on acceptable terms;

*  conditions of the real estate market in areas where we operate and of the g%neral economy;

¢ the cyclical nature of the homebuilding industry, changes in prevailing intefest rates and the availability of
mortgage financing; and

*  costs and availability of materials and labor.

Competition. The homebuilding industry is highly competitive. We compete for sales in each of our markets with
national, regional and local developers and homebwlders, existing home resales and, to]a lesser extent, condominiums and
available rental housing. Some of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources or lower costs than we do.
Competition among both small and large residential homebuilders is based on a numbe{ of interrelated factors, including
location, reputation, amenities, design, quality and price. Competition 1s expected to continue and become more intense, and
there may be new entrants in the markets in which we currently operate and in markets we may enter in the future. If we are

unable to successfully compete, our financial results and growth could suffer.

Additional Financing, Limitations. The homebuilding industry is capital intensive and requires significant up-front
expenditures to secure land and begin development and construction. Accordingly, we incur substantial indebtedness to
finance our homebuilding activities. At December 31, 2005, we had approximately $592.1 million of indebtedness and other
borrowings. If we require working capital greater than that provided by operations or available under our credit facility, we
may be required to seek additional capital in the form of equity or debt financing from a|variety of potential sources,
including bank financing and securities offerings. There can be no assurance we would be able to obtain such additional
capital on terms acceptable to us, if at all. The level of our indebtedness could have impértant consequences to our
stockholders, including the following:

*  our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or general
corporate purposes may be impaired;

®  we must use a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to pay ime‘rest and principal on our
indebtedness, which reduces the funds available to us for other purposes such as capital expenditures;

* we have a higher level of indebtedness than some of our competitors, which may put us at a competitive
disadvantage and reduce our flexibility in planning for, or responding to, changing conditions in our industry,
including increased competition; and

*  we may be more vulnerable to economic downturns and adverse developments in our business than some of our
competitors.

We expect to obtain the money to pay our expenses and to pay the principal and ‘interest on our indebtedness from
cash flow from operations. Qur ability to meet our expenses thus depends on our future performance, which will be affected
by financial, business, economic and other factors. We will not be able to control many of these factors, such as economic
conditions in the markets where we operate and pressure from competitors.

We cannot be certain that our cash flow will be sufficient to allow us to pay principal and interest on our debt and
meet our other obligations. If we do not have sufficient funds, we may be required to reﬂnance all or part of our existing debt,
sell assets or borrow additional funds. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to do so on terms acceptable to us, if at all. In
addition, the terms of existing or future debt agreements may restrict us from pursuing an§ of these alternatives.

Goveriiment Regulations; Environmental Conditions. Regulatory requirements could cause us to incur significant
liabilities and costs and could restrict our business activities. We are subject to local, state and federal statutes and rules
regulating certain developmental matters, as well as building and site design. We are subje’ct to various fees and charges of
government authorities designed to defray the cost of providing certain governmental serv1ces and improvemients. We may be
subject to additional costs and delays or may be precluded entirely from building projects because of “no- growth” or “slow-
growth” tnitiatives, building permit ordinances, building moratoriums, or similar govemm?nt regulations that could be
imposed in the future due to health, safety, welfare or environmental concerns. We must al‘so obtain licenses, permits and
approvals from government agencies to engage in certain activities, the granting or receipt of which are beyond our control

and could cause delays in our homebuilding projects.

We are also subject to a variety of local, state and federal statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning the
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protection of health and the environment. Environmeme}] laws or permit restrictions may result in project delays, may cause
substantial compliance and other costs and may prohibit1 or severely restrict development in certain environmentally sensitive
regions or geographic areas. Environmental regulations can also have an adverse impact on the availability and price of

certain raw materials, such as lumber.

Acts of War. Acts of war or any outbreak or esc\alation of hostilities between the United States and any foreign
power, including the conflict with Iraq, may cause disruption to the economy, our company, our employees and our

customers, which could impact our revenue, costs and expenses and financial condition.

|

Special Note of Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

In passing the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (PSLRA), Congress encouraged public companies to
make “forward-looking statements” by creating a safe-harbor to protect companies from securities law liability in connection
with forward-looking statements. We intend to qualify both our written and oral forward-looking statements for protection
under the PSLRA.

[T LIRS " [N

The words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “forecast,” “plan,” “estimate,” and “project” and similar expressions
identify forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the statement was made. All statements we make other
than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements within the meaning of that term in Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, and Section 21E of the Exchange|Act. Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report include
statements concerning the demand for and the pricing of our homes, the growth potential of the markets we operate in, our
acquisition strategy, demographic and other trends related to the homebuilding industry in general and our ability to
capitalize on them, the future supply of housing inventor)‘g in our markets and the homebuilding industry in general, our
ability 1o renew existing leases on comparable terms, our expectation that existing letters of credit and performance and
surety bonds will not be drawn on, the adequacy of our insurance coverage and warranty reserves, our ability to deliver
existing backlog, the expected outcome of legal proceedings against us, the sufficiency of our capital resources to support our
growth strategy, our ability and willingness to acquire land under option or contract, the future impact of deferred tax assets
or liabilities, the expectation of continued positive operating results in 2006 and beyond (including, but not limited to, that we
will be able to achieve strong margins in the near term, that price appreciation will moderate and that we expect closings in
our Florida market to increase in 2006) and the expected benefits of our acquisitions. Such statements are subject to
significant risks and uncertainties.

Important factors currently known to managemeqt that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in
forward-looking statements, and that could negatively affect our business are discussed in this report under the heading “Risk
Factors.”

Forward-looking statements express expectations|of future events. All forward-looking statements are inherently
uncertain as they are based on various expectations and assumptions concerning future events and they are subject to
numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those
projected. Due to these inherent uncertainties, the investment community 1s urged not to place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements. In addition, we undertake no obligations to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect
changed assumptions, the occurrence of anticipated events “or changes 1o projections over time. As a result of these and other

factors, our stock and note prices may fluctuate dramatically.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Propérties

Our corporate offices are leased properties located|in Scottsdale, Arizona, and Plano, Texas. The leases expire in
March 2014 and April 2011, respectively. Our Dallas/Ft. Worth division occupies a building that is leased from a company
owned beneficially by one of our co-chairmen. The lease ex\pired in May 2005 and has continued on a month-to-month basis
since that time. See Note 12 in the accompanying consolida‘t‘ed financial statements for further discussion of related party
transactions.

We lease an aggregate of approximately 334,600 square feet of office space in our markets for our operating
divisions and corporate and executive offices.



Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the United States Environmental Protection Agency and Maricopa County (Arizona) Air Quality
Department have assessed fines against us for violating dust control regulations. Whnlé we strive to maintain practices that
comply with such regulations, dust contro! violations are common to the residential holmebuﬂdmg industry in desert regions
such as Arizona. We do not believe that such fines will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position or

results of operations.

Beginning in late 2003, we established relationships with title insurance comp‘anies in three states where we do
business, under which one of our subsidiaries received a portion of the fees and premitims on title insurance purchased by
certain of our homebuyers and reinsured a portion of the policy risk. The United States Department of Housing and Urban
Development and certain state insurance regulators are investigating these types of arrangements. In 2004, we terminated
those arrangements that were not expressly approved by a state regulator. In total, these arrangements contributed
approximately $600,000 to our fiscal 2004 pre-tax earnings. Although we believe our arrangements were structured and
operated in compliance with applicable state and federal laws and regulations, the ultimate resolution of these investigations
could result in fines and/or a disgorgement of profits.

We are involved in various routine legal proceedings incidental to our business\, some of which are covered by
insurance, With respect to the majority of pending litigation matters, our ultimate legal and financial responsibility, if any,
cannot be estimated with certainty and, in most cases, any potential losses related to these matters are not considered
probable. At December 31, 2005, we had approximately $3.2 million in accrued legal e)‘xpenses and settlement costs reserved
for losses related to litigation and asserted claims where our ultimate exposure 15 considered probable and the potential loss
can be reasonably estimated. Most of these matters relate to correction of home construc‘\tion defects, foundation issues and
general customer claims. We believe that none of these matters will have a material adverse impact upon our consolidated

financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended December 31, 2005.
Executive Officers of the Registrant

The executive officers of the Company are elected each year at a meeting of the]Board of Directors, which follows
the annual meeting of the stockholders, and at other Board of Directors meetings as appropriate.

The names, ages, positions and business experience of our executive officers are listed below (all ages are as of
March 1, 2006). There are no understandings between any of our executive officers and any other person pursuant to which
any executive officer was selected to his office,

Name Age Position

44 Co-Chairman of the Board and Chief Exeﬁutive Officer
48 Co-Chairman of the Board and Chief Exequtive Officer

Steven J. Hilton
John R. Landon

Larry W. Seay .....c.occeocenn. 50 Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vic“e President
C. Timothy White ........... 45 General Counsel, Executive Vice President and Secretary
Richard T. Morgan........... 50 Vice President and Treasurer

Steven J. Hilton co-founded Monterey Homes in 1985, which merged with the Company’s predecessor in December 1996.
Mr. Hilton has been Co-Chairman and CEQ since July 1997.

John R. Landon founded Legacy Homes in 1987, which combined with the Company in July 1997. Mr. Landon has been Co-
Chairman and CEO since July 1997. \

Larry W. Seay has been Chief Financial Officer since December 1996 and was appointed Execunve Vice President in

October 2005. Mr. Seay served as Secretary from 1997 to October 2005. \‘

Richard T. Morgan has been Vice President since April 1993 and was appointed the Comp%my’s Treasurer in 2002,

|
C. Timothy White has been General Counsel, Executive Vice President and Secretary since October 2005 and served on the
Meritage Board of Directors from December 1997 until October 2005.




PART I

Item 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Qur common stock is listed on the New York %tock Exchange (“NYSE") under the symbol “MTH”. The high and
low sales prices per share of our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the NYSE, follow. Prices reflect a 2-
for-1 stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend|that occurred in January 2005

2005 2004
Quarter Ended High \ Low ‘ High Low
March 31 $ 76.62 | $ 5342 % 3983 % 29.56
June 30.............. $ 85.00 \ $ 5854 § 3735 % 2946
September 30..... $ 9650 | $ 206 $ 981§ 29.54
December 31...... $ 827 |$ 5729 § 57117 § 35.80

On March 6, 2006, the closing sales price of thejcommon stock as reported by the NYSE was $56.01 per share. At
that date, there were approximately 230 owners of record and approximately 5,700 beneficial owners of common stock.

The wransfer agent for our common stock is Mellon Investor Services LLC, 85 Challenger Road, Ridgefield Park, NJ
07660 (www.melloninvestor.com).

We have not declared cash dividends for the past eight years, nor do we intend to declare cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. We plan to retain the Company’s earnings to finance the continuing development of the business. Future
cash dividends, if any, will depend upon our financial con\dition, results of operations, capital requirements, compliance with
certain restrictive debt covenants, as well as other factors considered relevant by our Board of Directors. Certain of our debt
instruments contain restrictions on the payment of cash diLvidends. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Note 6 — Senior Notes, in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. ‘

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities:

The following table summearizes our purchases of|our own equity securities during the three months ended
December 31, 2005:

Total Number Approximate
of Shares Dollar Value of
Total Average . Purchased as Part Shares That May
Number of Price of Publicly Yet Be Purchased
Shares Paid per ‘ Announced Plans Under the Plans or
Period Purchased Share of Programs Prograins
October 1 - 31,2005 cocrmevrennne - - - 50,000,000
November 1 - 30, 2005 ............. 230616 1§ 6247 230,616 35,593,446
December 1 - 31, 2005.............. - -~ - 35,593,446
TOta] covvoceeerecer s 230616 § 6247 230,616  § 35,593,446

In August 2002, our Board of Directors authorized ‘the expenditure of up to $32 million to repurchase shares of our
common stock. In January 2004, our Board of Directors approved an increase in this amount of $26.8 million. During 2004,

we completed the August 2002 stock repurchase program byl repurchasing 1.1 million shares.

In August 2004, the Board of Directors approved a lslock buyback program authorizing the expenditure of up to $50
million to repurchase shares of our common stock. In 2005 we purchased 230,616 shares under this program at an average
price of $62.47. The program was completed in February 2006, with the repurchase of 601,000 shares at an average price of

$59.21.
In February 2006, the Board of Directors approved a new stock repurchase program, authorizing the expenditure of

up to $100 million to repurchase shares of our common slock]‘ There is no stated expiration date for this program. As of
March 7, 2006, we had not repurchased any shares of our contlmon stock under this program.
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Ttem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents selected historical consolidated financial and operating data of Meritage Homes
Corporation and subsidiaries as of and for each of the last five years ended December %l, 2005. The financial data has been
derived from our consolidated financial statements and related notes for the periods presented, audited by our independent
registered public accounting firms. This table should be read in conjunction with “Man‘agemem’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included

elsewhere in this Annual Report. These historical results may not be indicative of future results.

|

The data in the table includes the operations of Hancock Communities, Hammonds Homes, Perma-Bilt Homes,
Citation Homes, Colonial Homes and Greater Homes since their dates of acquisition, May 2001, July 2002 October 2002,
January 2004, February 2005 and September 2003, respectively.

Historical Consolidated Financial Data’

Years Ended December 31,
(8 in thousands, except per share amounts) .
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Statement of Earnings Data:
Total ClOSINg [EVENUE ..........cerverrcerreersorrienecenies $3,001,102 $2,040004 § 1,47],001 $1,1 19,817 $ 744,174
Total cost of ClOSINGS .....ervvvvrrceeiemnrcerrieenninennins (2,294,112) (1,631,534) (1,178,484)  (904,921)  (586,914)
GOS8 PIOfit .\vceveerccerenrcens s enesnrienee 706,990 408,470 292,517 214,896 157,260
Commissions and other sales COStS ..........cc.cocveen. (160,114)  (116,527) (?2,904) (65,291) (41,085)
General and administrative expenses (124,979} (79,257) (53,929) (41,496) (35,722)
Earnings from unconsolidated entities, net............ 18,337 2,788 \ 1,743 1,383 1,006
Oher INCOME, DB ..o 7,468 9,284 \4,033 4,052 1,878
Loss on extinguishment of debt ......coovvvvcvvecrninecne (31,477) — — — (383)
Earnings before income taxes ......coovercervercvenens 416,225 224,758 1§ 1,460 113,544 82,954
INCOME EAXES w..ovovveovcer s cev s srernane {160,560) (85,790) (57,054) (43,607) (32,295)
NEt CAININES ..o senceeseneceseenrseceren $ 255665 $ 138968 § ;4,406 $ 69937 § 50,659
Earnings per common share: (1) ]
$ 948 § 533 % 362§ 282 § 2.39
$ 8838 § 503 $ 342 % 266 % 2.15

Balaoce Sheet Data (December 31): \
Real estate (2) ..o $1390,803 § 867218 $ 678011 $ 484970 § 330,238

Total assets (2) - 1971357 1,265,394 952,539 691,788 436,715
Senior notes, loans payable and other ‘

DOFTOWINES (2)...ccvcomveerrmmmermvireescsssscssssensinsscene 592,124 471,415 351,491 264,927 177,561
Total liabilites (2)........cooccreeremvreemsemssssimsersirreenens 1,120,352 742,839 542 44 374,480 260,128
Stockholders’ equity ..........ccovcvvrivvccrrvervirrienriraninns 851,005 522,555 411 895 317,308 176,587

|

Historical Consolidate{d Financial Data
Years Ended December 31,
(3 in thousands, except per share amounts) -

. 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Cash Flow Data:
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating aCtVitieS .....rervrvveerrsirsssserecen $ 72243 § 63869 § (50302) $ 1050 $ (16,411)
Investing activities (247427) (85,502) (35,§12) (149,691) (76,465)
Financing activities 193,120 64,710 84,313 151,858 91,862

(1) 2001 amounts have been adjusted to reflect a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend that occurred in April
2002 and 2001-2004 amounts have been adjusted to reflect a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dlv1dend that
occurred in January 2003.

o ‘ : \ - T :
(2) We detenmined in 2005 that costs associated with models that we use to market our c?munltles and that are built by us
on lots owned by a third-party and leased from them during our sales process, are required to be included in our financial

statements. We do not legally own the models, but we are reimbursed by the owner for our construction costs, and we
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have the rxght but not the obligation to purchase these homes. For accounting purposes we are deemed to be the owner
due to our “continuing involvement” with these assets At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the amount of real estate and
notes and loans payable relating to such homes was $39 Jand $53.8 rmlhon respectively.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

We are a leading designer and builder of single-\family homes in the rapidly growing western and southern United
States based on the number of home closings and revenue. We focus on providing a broad range of first-time, move-up,
active adult and fuxury homes to our targeted customer base. We believe that the refatively strong population, job and income
growth as well as the favorable migration characteristics of our markets will continue to provide significant long-term growth
opportunities for us. At December 31, 2005, we were acti‘vely selling homes in 184 communities, with base prices ranging
from $109,000 to §1,147,000.

We achieved record home closings, home sales, revenues and net earnings in 2005. Home closing revenue increased
49% in 2005 10 $3.0 billion and net earnings increased 84% to $255.7 million. In 2005 we closed 9,406 homes, up 30% from
2004 and we received 10,571 new orders for homes, up 17% from 2004.

|

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we benefited i]n most of our markets from strong order demand and strong
pricing power, which resulted in record orders, closings and backlog. Our ability to obtain price increases, which have
exceeded increases in land and construction costs, resulted|in our 2005 gross margin increasing to 23.6% from 19.9% in
fiscal 2004. \ ‘

At December 31, 2005, we had a backlog of 6,394 horLes with a value of approximately $2.2 billion. This backlog gives
us good visibility into our projected results over the next few quarters. The homebuilding industry as a whole has generally
benefited over the last few years from strong demand and pricing power. Because of the extended time period to construct
homes, i.e., from the contracting of raw land through the entitlement process to the construction of homes, strong pricing
power has a favorable impact on homebuilders’ gross marg%ns because the underlying land (a significant component of the
cost of a home) was generally contracted for several years earlier in a lower price environment. Thus, we believe, based on
our significant backlog, during the first half of 2006 we wil] be able to continue to achieve relatively strong gross margins,
unless we experience an unusually high number of order cancelfations o construction costs increase significantly. Looking
beyond our backlog, howe ver, a slowing or decline in home sales prices could have an adverse effect on our gross margins
because land reating to homes will generally have been contracted for in a comparatively higher price environment. In
addition, our gross margins could be adversely impacted if home price increases do not keep pace with construction cost

ncreases.

We posted strong home order growth in 2003, receiving 10,571 new orders valued at $3.6 billion, increases of 17% and
37%, respectively, compared to 2004. We are aware of inve§tor concerns about demand trends. Overall, our sales orders in
2005 were strong. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we nonced a slowdown in some of our markets, in the pace of new
orders compared to the abnormal surge in orders in the fourth quarter of 2004, resulting in modest increases in the number of
homes ordered of 1% and 8% in the value of those orders. Our Nevada and northern California markets posted positive order
growth in 2005, with increases of 70% and 4% in the value of home orders, respectively. Qur fourth quarter order value for
these regions, however, fell year over year 2% and 62%, resdectwely, reflecting slowing from the unusually robust sales pace
seen in previous quarters in the northern California and Nevada markets with increases in the number of cancellations. It is
our expectation that price appreciation in our more robust markets will moderate and we expect the home order rate to return
to more normal and sustainable levels in 2006 and beyond.

During January and February 2006, demand moderated from the previous record-breaking pace of sales orders in some
of our markets, particularly in northern California and Floridat while in Texas, our sales orders remain solid and have
exceeded our expectations. During the fourth quarter of 2005,{ we experienced an increase in cancellations from historical
levels. This trend of higher cancellation rates has continued. We believe our experiences in these markets are consistent with
the overall trends in the homebuilding market. In addition, dur‘ing the last few months in some of our markets, we began
offering our customers increased incentives and discounts as Homebuilding markets moderate from the pace experienced by
the industry in general during recent years. If these trends continue or worsen in 2006, we may be required to moderate our

previously issued 2006 revenue and earnings per share guidance.
Our Strategy and Other Recent Developments

In general, we focus on minimizing land risk by purch‘asing property only after full entitlements have been obtained
and typically begin development or construction immediately after close. We acquire land primarily through rolling option

contracts, allowing us to purchase individual lots as our building needs dictate. These arrangements allow us to control lot

|
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inventory typically on a non-recourse basis without incurring the risks of land ownership. At December 31, 2005, we owned
or had options to acquire approximately 54,100 housing lots, of which approximately 91% were under rolling option and land
purchase contracts. We believe that the lots we own or have the right to acquire represent an approximate five year supply,
and that we are well positioned for future growth.

We have completed eight acquisitions over the last eight years. Our recent acquisitions have provided us with an
entry into important new markets. Our 2002 acquisition of Perma-Bilt Homes provideq us entry into the fast growing Las
Vegas market and our January 2004 acquisition of Citation Homes of Southern Cal Jforma provided us entry into the Los
Angeles metro area market, which is the second largest single-family housing market | in the United States. Our 2001
acquisition of Hancock Homes (Phoenix) and our 2002 acquisition of Hammonds Horﬁles (Dallas, Houston and Austin) have
strengthened our positions in our important Arizona and Texas markets. In 2004 we began start-up operations in Denver,
Colorado, and Orlando, Florida. ~ We began start-up operations in Reno, Nevada in 2005, and we plan to begin delivering

homes there in mid-2006.

In 2005 we significantly expanded our presence in Florida through our acquisition of Colonial Homes in February
2005 and our acquisition of Greater Homes in September 2005. Colonial Homes builds|single-family homes and
condominiums in the Ft. Myers/Naples market and Greater Homes builds single-family homes in the Orlando market.

In March 2005, we completed the sale of 1,035,000 shares of our common stoek in a registered public offering
resulting in net proceeds to the Company of approximately $69.7 million. In addition, »\ﬂ'e completed the private placement of
$350 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.25% senior notes due 2015 which resulted in net proceeds to the Company,
after commissions, discounts and fees of approximately $344 million. We used the proceeds from these transactions to
repurchase pursuant to a tender offer and consent solicitation approximately $276.8 mill‘ion of our outstanding 9.75% senior
notes due 2011. In connection with this tender offer and repurchase, we recorded a one-time pre-tax charge of approximately
$31.5 million for premiums, commissions and expenses associated with the tender offer\and the write-off of existing offering
costs associated with the 9.75% senior notes, net of the accretion of existing note premiums on the 9.75% senior notes and

taxes.

This discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is l‘)ased upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America.

Critical Accounting Policies

We have established various accounting policies that govern the application of United States generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the preparation and presentation of our consolidated financial statements. Our significant
accounting policies are described in Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements. Cert:ain of these policies involve
significant judgments, assumptions and estimates by management that may have a materi1a1 impact on the carrying value of
certain assets and liabilities, and revenue and costs. We are subject to uncertainties such as the impact of future events,
economic, environmental and political factors and changes in our business environment; }herefore, actual results could differ
from these estimates. Accordingly, the accounting estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements will change as
new eveats occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information is obtained apd as our operating environment
changes. Changes in estimates are made when circumstances warrant. Such changes in estimates and refinements in
estimation methodologies are reflected in our reported results of operations and, if materi%ﬂ, the effects of changes in
estimates are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The judgmen‘ts assumptions and estimates we
use and believe to be critical to our business are based on historical experience, knowledoe of the accounts and other factors,
which we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Because of the nature of the )udgmems and assumptions we have
made, actual results may differ from these judgments and estimates, which could have a n“)atenal smpact on the carrying
values of assets and liabilities and the results of our operations. Our inability to accurately estimate stock-based
compensation, expenses, accruals, or an impairment of real estate or goodwill could resulti in charges, or income, in future
periods, which relate to activities or transactions in a preceding period. The estimates and assumptions we make relating to
our application of FIN 46R, if not accurate, could result in us incorrectly including, or excludmg certain contractual land
acquisition arrangements or investments in unconsolidated entities as variable interest entities in, or from, respectively, our

consolidated financial statements.

The accounting policies that we deem most critical to us, and involve the most difficult, subjective or complex
judgments, include: ‘

Real Estate

Real estate is stated at cost, which includes direct construction costs for homes, development periodi‘ interest and
certain common costs that benefit the entire community. We assess these assets for recoverability in accordance with the
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provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets. SFAS 144 requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets is measured by
comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.
Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.

Goodwill

We review the carrying value of goodwill annually. In evaluating impairment, we base our estimates of fair value on
an analysis of selected business acquisitions in the home})uilding industry provided to us by an independent third party. Such
evaluations for impairment are significantly impacted by“ the amount a buyer is willing to pay in the current market for a like
business. Our reporting units are determined in accordance with SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which
defines a reporting unit as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment.

Warranty Reserves

Warranty reserves included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. We record reserves covering our
anticipated warranty costs for each home closed. We review the adequacy of warranty reserves based on historical experience
and our estimate of the costs to remediate the claims, and adjust these provisions accordingly. Factors that affect our warranty
liability include the number of homes sold, historical and\‘anticipated rates of warranty claims, and cost per claim.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We invest in entities that acquire and develop lar‘ld for sale to us in connection with our homebuilding operations or
for sale to third parties. Our partners generally are unrelated homebuilders, Jand sellers and financial or other strategic
partners.

Most of the unconsolidated entities through which we acquire and develop land are accounted for by the equity
method of accounting because the criteria for consolidation set forth in FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December
2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN146R) have not been met. We record our investments in these
entities in our consolidated balance sheets as “Investments in unconsolidated entities” and our pro rata share of the entities’
earnings or losses in our consolidated statements of eamidgs as “Earnings from unconsolidated entities, net.” See Note 4 in
the accompanying financial statements for additional information related to our investments in unconsolidated entities.

We also enter into option or purchase agreements to acquire land or lots from entities, for which we generally pay
non-refundable deposits. We analyze these agreements under FIN 46R to determine whether we are the primary beneficiary
of the VIE created as result of these agreements using a mode] developed by management. If we are deemed to be the
primary beneficiary of the VIE because we are obligated (6 absorb the majority of the expected losses, receive the majority of
the residual returns, or both, we will consolidate the VIE ir{] our consolidated financial statements. See Note 3 in the

accompanying financial statements for additional informau;on related to our off-balance sheet arrangements.
Home Closing Revenue, Home Orders and Order Backlo~g

The tables provided below show operating and financial data regarding our homebuilding activities (dollars in
thousands).

20



Home Closing Revenue

Total
DOHAIS ..ovvvvvercver e
Homes cloSed ...ovvrvreovveenrinecericnniesrnsrenn,
Average 5ales PriCe.....coo oo imerrcrinnns

Texas
DONATS c.oooervee e
Homes closed .....oovrrvnrncienriienns oo,
Average sales PriCe........couevuemmenrcrcrenrrcorinnee

Arizona
DOMALS ..ot
Homes closed ....coovovereiser s
Average sales PriCe.........ooouwvvvmrcccnvcerereonn.
California
DOLALS ..o
Homes closed ......oocovomimnvienimniniceen
Average Sales Price........cooooevonreccrivenricnon,

Nevada
DOHALS oo et
Homes closed
Average sales price

Florida
DOHArS ..o
Homes closed
Average sales price

Colorado
DOHAS .coovceeeeri e renrenes
Homes closed
Average sales price
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Years Ended December 31,

2005 | 2004 2003
\

$ 2996946 $ 2015742 $ 1461981
9,406 7254 5642
$ 3186 § 2779 § 259
§ 787204 § 681099 § 577330
3576 3152 2828
$ 200 $ | 2161 § 2041
$ 873,137 § 585743 § 415700
312 21331 1.515
$ 297§ | 2513 § 2744
$ 947228 $ \628,324 § 334677
1,627 1,367 75
$ 5822 5 | 4596 § 4553
§ 201907 § 120576 § 1347265
541 404 564
§ 3732 0% 12085 § 2381
§ 184,661 N/A N/A
532 N/A N/A
$ 3471 | NIA N/A
$ 2809 \N/A N/A
8 N/A N/A
$ 3501 N/A N/A

|

|

|

\

!




Years Ended December 31,

2005

2004 2003

Home Orders
Total

DONALS .o $ 3,580,855 $2,604948 § 1634988

Homes ordered ..., 10,571 9,007 6,152

AVerage sales Price........ccorvvvrvvercvnncdrmnervens $ 3387 % 2892 § 2658
Texas \

DOUALS e scesrerccsnecsmseaossssnsrsns $ 983,579 § 752770 § 599,850

Homes 0rdered ... — 4,264 3518 2862

Average sales price............covoruvene I $ 2307 § 2140 § 2096
Arizona \

DOUaIS e $ 1,174452 § 884,771 § 509913

HOMES OGCIEd ... 3,558 3,490 1881

Average sales PriCe........cwweeran N $ 3300 8 2835 § 2711
California \ ‘

DOILATS o ncernecermenssssssasssermsbossenens $ 976921 § 821,266 § 375105

Homes ordered ......ovevercvirrinreien, [ ............ 1,646 1,582 307

Average sales Price............vwerreerre I $ 5935 § 5191 § 4648
Nevada

DOUALS .vevveovevrrsarssssees s cssmssnes § 249,104 § 146,141 § 150,120

Homes ordered ......... [ 653 417 602

Average sales price $ 3815 § 3505 3§ 2494
Florida \

DONAILS ..o serrerscnniser e e $ 182,168 N/A N/A

Homes ordered [ 410 N/A N/A

Average sales price . $ 4443 N/A N/A
Colorado \

DOELS oo crnesscesseens e $ 14,631 N/A N/A

Homes ordered _— a0 N/A N/A

AVerage Sales Pric......... . rcewcermms! - $ 365.8 N/A N/A
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At December 31,

2005 | 2004 2003

Order Backlog
Total

DOUATS oo mnseennenccssasns $2,181,600 §$1320951 § 710,771

Homes in backlog.....c..cccoocovreomrerericcrinnrionn, 6,394 4408 2,580

Average sales price § 3412 § 2997 § 2755
Texas

Dollars............. . § 509465 §1(313000 § 241419

Homes it backlog ...o...orvvoreevveerrericrecseennnn, 2,173 1485 1,119

AVErage $ales PriCE. ..ovvrmmermerrreecrrrercensressisns $ 2345 §| 2108 § 2157
Arizona

DOHAIS covevos e s $ 838,702 § 1537387 § 238,359

Homes in backlog..... . 2,427 1,991 832

Average sales price $ 3456 $ | 2699 § 2865
California

DOMALS ... cerrenrirnrcmnceesinnecesecssessess $ 420964 3 391271 § 177355

Homes in backlog......ccooocevvvccrvirivncnneinne. 14 695 405

Average sales price § 3806 % ] 5630 § 4379
Nevada

Dollars ...ocooererrnce § 126400 3 |79203 § 53,638

Homes in backlog 349 237 224

Average Sales PriCe.......cvveemrviessrecerrecssenrirons $ 3622 § 3342 % 2395
Hlorida

DOIIALS ovovecvrerimrrcercerriameserirsrcenssecarneiens § 274247 N/A N/A

Homes in backlog..... 699 N/A N/A

Average sales price $ 3923 N/A N/A
Colorado

DOMNALS ..o § 11822 N/A N/A

Homes in backlog.......coocvecienivivccinnieininnnes 32 N/A N/A

Average sales price... § 3694 N/A N/A

Home Closing Revenue. Home closing revenue increased 49% to a Company record of $3.0 biltion in 2005 from
$2.0 billion in 2004. The factors primarily leading to this increase were continued strong demand and our ability to raise
prices throughout many of our markets. Average selling prices on homes closed rose 15% from 2004 to 2005 and we
benefited from a 30% increase in the number of homes closed in 2005 to 9,406 from 7,254\1 in 2004. Additionally, our two
acquisitions in Florida, though only included in our results for less than one year, accounted for approximately 18% of our
increase in home closing revenues in 2005. In Arizona and Nevada, the number of homes closed increased 34% in 2005
producing home closing revenue of $873.1 and $201.9 million, increases of 49% and 67%:, respectively, compared to 2004.
Active selling communities in Arizona increased 35% to 35 at December 31, 2005 from 2]6 at the same time a year ago,
supporting the strong closing results for Arizona. The 51% increase in California home closing revenue to $947.2 million in
2005 compared to $628.3 million in 2004 reflects a 19% increase in the number of homes Flosed and a 27% increase in the
average selling price of homes closed. In a very competitive Texas market where we are now expanding our entry-level and
semni-custom luxury offerings in addition to our primary focus on move-up homes, we clos“ed 3,576 homes for $787.2 million
in home closing revenue, increases of 13% and 16%, respectively. In Florida, as a result of‘ our two acquisitions and the
commencement of closings in our Orlando start-up division, we produced home closing revenue of $184.7 million on 532
home closings. With Florida being one of the fastest growing states in terms of population growth and permit activity, we
expect the number of home closings and associated revenue to increase in 2006 with our Colonial Homes and Greater Homes

divisions having a full year of closing activity.

Home closing revenue in 2004 increased 38% to $2.0 billion, compared to $1.5 billion in 2003. Contributing to our
impressive 2004 home closing revenue was beginning 2004 with a year-end order backlog Pf $710.8 million.” Additionally,
our 2004 home closing revenue benefited from a 7% increase in the average sales price of homes closed and a 29% increase

in the number of homes closed led by our Arizona and California regions where the housing markets were very strong in
{
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general. In 2004, we increased the number of actively selling communities through organic growth as well as our January
2004 acquisition of Citation Homes in the Southern California market. The number of closings in our Texas region increased
11% t0 3,152 in 2004, reflecting somewhat more comp‘etitive market conditions. Our Arizona region posted a 54% increase
in the number of homes closed in 2004 to 2,331. The increase in Arizona is primarily due to the increase in closings of more
affordable homes in that market, particularly in our Active Adult communities, representing a shift in our historical product
mix in this market. The average closing price per home iin Arizona declined 8% in 2004 as a result of this shift in product
mix. Our California regton, which offers our highest pri\ced homes, posted an 86% increase in the number of homes closed,
resulting in an 88% increase in home closing revenue in1 2004. The increase in home closings in California was primarily dve
to a generally strong housing market and a 29% increase in actively selling communities. In Nevada, closings were off
moderately for 2004 because we sold out of several communities faster than anticipated in 2003, before our replacement

communities were opet for sales.

Home Orders. Howe orders for any period represent the aggregate sales price of all homes ordered by customers,
net of cancellations. We do not include orders commgent upon the sale of a customer’s existing home as a sales contract until
the contingency is removed. Historically, we have cxpen\enced a cancellation rate of less than 25% of gross sales. In 2005,
we took home orders for 10,571 homes, an increase of l7~% compared to the 9,007 home orders in 2004 primarily due to
having well designed communities with the right products at the right location and at the right price, coupled with a 32%
increase in the number of actively selling communities to 184 at December 31, 2005. A robust housing market in Arizona
contributed to a 33% increase in the value of home orders in 2005, where we have diversified our product mix with our
Active Adult division, complementing our traditional move- -up and semi-custom Juxury communities. In Texas, despite a
very competitive market, we experienced solid demand in all of our markets and received orders for 4,264 homes valued at
$983.6 million in 2003, increases of 21% and 31%, respecuve y, compared to 3,518 home orders with a value of $752.8
million in 2004. A component to our order increase in Texas is our product line expansion into entry-level and semi-custom
luxury homes. Our 2005 acquisitions of Colonial Homes and Greater Homes in Florida provided an additional 12 active
selling communities to our portfolio at December 31, 2005, contributing approximately $182.2 million in home orders
including the results of our Orlando start-up division. The acquisition of Colonial Homes also added condomintums and
attached product to our product portfolio. While our Nevada and northern California regions posted strong order growth in
2005, increases of 70% and 4% in the value of home orders, respectively, our fourth quarter order value for these regions fell
year over year 2% and 62%, respectively, reflecting slowix\;g from the unusually robust sales pace seen in previous quarters in
these markets. We expect home order rates to return to more normal and sustainable levels in 2006.

We ended the 2004 fiscal year with 9,007 homes (])rdered compared to 6,152 in 2003, representing a 46% increase in
home orders. Our Arizona and California regions posted particularly strong results, primarily due to healthy housing markets
in both states. The number of home orders in Arizona rose 86% in 2004 due to newly opened communities and the
diversification of our product offerings to take advantage o‘f emerging demographic trends such as maturing baby boomers in
the form of Active Adult communities. Our Active Adult communities generated 786 sales orders in 2004, as compared to
302 in 2003. In California, sales orders increased 96% in 2004 primarily due fo an increase in active communities in northern
California, the acquisition of Citation Homes in January 2004 and continued strong demand for homes. During 2004, the
number of orders in Nevada declined 31% to 417, reﬂectmé the closing out of a number of communities ahead of their
replacements. During the latter part of 2004, we successfully opened several communities for sales, which is reflected in our

impressive sales results for Nevada in 2005.

Order Backlog. Our backlog represents net sales contracts that have not closed. Our backlog was $2.2 billion at
December 31, 2003, an increase of 65% compared to $1.3 bx lion at December 31, 2004 and was comprised of 6,394 homes,
a45% increase compared to the year ended December 31, 2004. Our homes in backlog at December 31, 2005 reflect an
average sales price of $341,200, an increase of 14% comparéd 1o $299,700 at the same time a year ago. These increases are
primarily due to healthy housing markets in many of our ma\rketS In Texas, the number of homes in backlog increased 46%
to 2,173 from [,485 at December 31, 2004 with an increase 0f 63% in the value of that backlog to $509.5 million. Our
Nevada and Arizona regions increased the number of homes in backlog 47% and 22%, respectively, while the value of those
homes increased 60% and 56%, respectively. In California, v‘(e had a modest increase in backlog of 8%, reflecting
moderating demand in the fourth quarter. With our start-up division in Orlando and acquisitions of Colonial Homes and
Greater Homes during 2005, we ended the year with 699 homes in backlog in Florida with a value of $274.2 million in

Florida.

As a result of the accelerating order momentum durmg the second half of 2004, we ended 2004 with 4,408 homes in
backlog, 2 71% increase compared to year-end 2003, resuhmg in a doliar backlog of $1.3 bilkion for year-end 2004, an 86%
increase over year-end 2003. In addition to a 71% increase in (he number of homes in order backlog, the increase in dollar
backlog was also due to a 9% increase in the average sales prlce of those homes. Qur Arizona region more than doubled their
number of homes in backlog at the end of 2004 compared to 2003 with an increase of 139%. In California, the number of
units and average sales price of the units in backlog increased 72% and 29%, respectively, to 695 units and $391.3 million,

%
1
i




primarity as a result of the increased active selling communities in Northern California and also due to the acquisition of
Citation Homes in Janvary 2004. Our Nevada region ended 2004 with $79.2 million in backlog, an increase of 48% over
year-end 2003, mainly due to a 40% increase in the average selling price of homes in order backlog. The price increase was
primarily due to a strong housing market in Nevada represented by our year-end 2004 jorder backlog with higher priced
selling communities compared to lower priced selling communities for year-end 2003. In Texas, our backlog increased 30%

to $313.1 million at year-end 2004 from year-end 2003, primarily due to an increase in wnit orders of 33%.
Other Operating Information

Years Ended December 31,
($ in thousands)

2005\ 2004 2003
T ‘

Home Closing Gross Profit |
DOIALS oot ssreensines $ 706,4‘153 $ 400,287 $291,282
Percent of home closing revenue

23.6% 19.9% 199%

Commissions and Other Sales Costs
DIOHALS ..o e rars et $ 160,114 § 116527 . § 92,904
Percent of home cloSing Feventie.......cooecveveemceceeeiensrcricnn, $3% 5.8% 6.4%

General and Administrative Expenses
DIOMALS .oevo v et seesseasss e § 124919 § 79257 § 53,929
Percent of total closing revenue.............ccoovcooccnverececrcrnnsens 42% 35% 37%

Provision for Income Taxes
DIOHALS coerrvvvcrerecrcrreccresrsenecerisns s isece o § 160560 § 85790 '§ 57054
Percent of earnings before provision for income taxes............ 38.6% 38.2% 31.7%

Home Closing Gross Profit. Home closing gross profit represents home closing revenue less cost of home closings.
Cost of home closings include land and lot development costs, direct home construction ‘\costs, an allocation of common
comrnunity costs (such as model complex costs and architectural, legal and zoning costs), interest, sales tax, impact fees,
warranty, construction overhead and closing costs. Home closing gross profit increased 10 23.6% in 2005 from 19.9% in
2004. This increase was primarily due to strong demand and our ability to raise prices in Mmany of our markets, along with
increases in average sales prices on homes closed. The increase also reflected a greater percentage of revenue generated by
our California, Nevada and Florida markets, which have higher average selling prices. Injaddition to strong demand and
higher average selling prices, we were able to effectively manage our land and construction costs. Our 2005 gross margin
reflects an overall robust homebuilding environment and is higher than our target range. In the future, we do not believe
homebujlding margins of this leve] are sustainable and we believe our margins will return to a more normalized level during
this time period. We believe that margin compression could result from a slowing in home sale price increases or decrease in
home sale prices, increasing costs of land and building materials and increased incentives|offered to homebuyers as the

homebuilding market slows and interest rates increase.
Home closing gross profit as a percentage of home closing revenue was consistent in 2004 and 2003 at 19.9%.

Commissions and Other Sales Costs. Commissions and other sales costs, such as advertising and sales office
expenses, decreased as a percent of home closing revenue to 5.3% in 2005 from 5.8% in 2004. This decrease was primarily
due to the strong housing markets, which reduced the involvement of external real estate aLgents that result in higher
commission costs than our intemnal sales force.

Commissions and other sales costs as a percent of home closing revenue were 5.8% in 2004, down from 6.4% in
2003. This decrease was primarily the result of our ability to leverage our fixed and semi- fixed sales and marketmg costs
with our 38% increase in home closing revenue.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses represent corporate and divisional
overhead expenses such as salaries and bonuses, occupancy, insurance and travel expenses, General and administrative
expenses increased to 4.2% of total revenue in 2005 from 3.9% in 2004. As discussed elsewhere, during 2005 we completed
two significant acquisitions in Florida. These acquisitions, along with our growth in our existing markets, necessitated an
expansion of our corporate infrastructure capabilities, such as accounting, internal audit, legal and information technology to

prudently manage the growth of the Company.

General and administrative costs as a percent of total revenue remained relatively consistent in 2004 at 3.9% of total
revenue compared to 3.7% for 2003.
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Loss on Extingunishment of Debt. Reference is made to the follc;win g section titled “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” for a discussion about the $31.5 million loss on extinguishment of debt charge we incurred relating to our 2003
bond refinancing.

Income Taxes. Income taxes increased to $160.6 million in 2005 from $85.8 million in 2004. As a percent of pre-
tax earnings, taxes were 33.6% in 2005, generally consistent with 38.2% in 2004. The tax benefit associated with the exercise
of employee stock options reduced taxes payable for 2005 by approximately $10.5 million, which was credited to additional
paid-in-capital.

Income taxes increased to $85.8 million in 20(])4 from $57.1 milkion in 2003. As a percent of pre-tax earnings, taxes
were 38.2% in 2004, up from 37.7% in 2003. This increlase was mainly due to the 2004 increase in pre-tax earnings in
Arizona and California, which have higher state tax rates than Nevada and Texas. The tax benefit associated with the exercise

of employee stock options reduced taxes payable for 2004 by approximately $3.0 million, which was credited to additional
paid-in-capital.

Liquidity and Capital Resources |

Our principal uses of capital for the year endedlDecember 31,2005 were for operating expenses, the acquisitions of
Colonial Homes and Greater Homes, land purchases, investments i joint ventures, lot development, home construction, the
repurchase of common stock, income taxes and interest. We used a combination of borrowings under our revolving credit
facility and funds generated by operations to meet our short-term working capital requirements. In addition, we repurchased
$276.8 miltion of our 9.75% senior notes through the issuance of $350.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our 6.25%
Senjor notes.

Cash flows for each of our communities depend on the status of the development cycle and can differ substantially
from reported earnings. Early stages of development or expansion require significant cash outlays for land acquisitions, plat
and other approvals, and construction of model homes, r&ads utilities, general landscaping and other amenities. Because
these costs are capitalized, income reported for financial 1statemem purposes during those eatly stages may significantly
exceed cash flow. Cash flows during the later stages of a commumty may significantly exceed eamnings reported for financial

statement purposes, as cost of closings includes charges for substantial amounts of previously expended costs.

We enter into various option and purchase contracts for land in the normal course of business. Except for our
specific performance options, none of these agreements require us to purchase lots. Generally, our options to purchase lots
remain effective so long as we purchase a pre-established|minimum number of lots each month or quarter, as determined by
the respective agreement. The pre-established number is typically structured to approximate our expected rate of home
construction starts. At December 31, 2003, we had entered into option purchase contracts with an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $2.8 billion, on which we had made deposns of approximately $167.5 million in cash along with
approximately $81.5 million in letters of credit. Additional information regarding our purchase agreements and related
depostts is presented in Note 3 - Variable Interest Entities|and Consolidated Real Estate Not Owned in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

On December 20, 2005, we amended our $600 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility to add an accordion
feature that will allow Meritage to request from time to time an aggregate increase of up to $200 million in the maximum
borrowing commitment. Each member of the lending group may elect to participate or not participate in any request we
make. In addition, any increase in the borrowing capacity pursuant to this accordion feature is subject to certain terms and
conditions, including the absence of an event of default. ‘

At December 31, 2005, $72.6 million was outstanding under our serijor unsecured revolving credit facility and
approximately $99.3 million was outstanding in letters of c!redit that collateralize our obligations under various land purchase
and other contracts. After considering our most restrictive bank covenants, our borrowing availability under the bank credit
facility was approximately $428.1 million at December 31,/2005, as dcterrmned by borrowing base limitations defined by our

agreement with the lending banks.

This credit facility contains certain financial and other covenants, including covenants:

*  requiring us to maintain tangible net worth of at least $225 million plus 50% of net income eamed since
January 1, 2004 plus 75% of the aggregate net increase in tangible net worth resulting from the sale of

capital stock and other equity interests (as] defined);

*  prohibiting our ratio of indebtedness (including accrued expenses) to tangible net worth from being greater
than2.25t0 1;
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*  requiring us to maintain a ratio of EBITDA (including interest amortized to cost of sales) to interest
incurred (as defined) of at least 2.0 to 1, 1

*  prohibiting the net book value of our land and lots where constructio? of a home has not commenced to
exceed 125% of tangible net worth and prohibiting the net book value of our raw land where grading or
infrastructure improvements have not begun to exceed 20% of tanglble net worth,

*  limiting the number of unsold housing units and model units that we may have in our inventory at the end
of any fiscal quarter as follows:

{1) unsold homes cannot exceed 25% of the number of home closings within the four fiscal quarters
ending on such date; and

(2) model homes cannot exceed 10% of the number of home closings within the four fiscal quarters
ending on such date; and

*  prohibiting us from entering into any sale and leaseback transaction, excluding the sale and leaseback of
model homes and prohibiting us from creating or incurring any off-balance sheet liability. For purposes of
our credit facility, off-balance sheet liabilities include:

(1) certain Liabilities arising under asset securitization transactions;

(2) monetary obligations under synthetic leases, tax retention or off—bz\ilance sheet lease transactions that
upon the application of any debtor relief law to us would be characterized as indebtedness;

{3) any other monetary obligation with respect to any transaction which upon the application of any debtor
relief law to us would be characterized as indebtedness or which is the functional equivalent of or takes
the place of borrowing but which does not constitute a liability on our consolidated balance sheet.

Notwithstanding the above, our credit facility specifically provides that liabilitie]‘s (1) under rolling options and
similar contracts for the acquisition of real property, (i) arising under model home leases; and (iii) arising under guarantees
shall not be deemed off-balance sheet liabilities.

\
In April 2004, we issued $130.0 miltion in principal amount of 7.0% senior notes due 2014. Approximately $129.4
million of this amount was used to pay down our senior unsecured credit facility.

The indenture for our 7.0% senior notes requires us to comply with a number of covenants that restrict certain
transactions, including covenants: |

*  Jimiting the amount of additional indebtedness we can incur unless after givi‘ng effect to such additional

indebtedness, either (i) our fixed charge coverage ratio would be at least 2.0 to 1.0 or (i1) our ratio of
consolidated debt to consolidated tangible net worth would be less than 3.0 to 1.0, provided, however, this
limitation does not generally apply to indebtedness under our senior unsecured credit facility, most types of
inter-company indebtedness, purchase money indebtedness up to §15 rmlhon‘ NON-TECOUTSE mdebtedness and

other indebtedness up to $15 million;

*  generally limiting the amount of dividends, redemptions of equity interests ar}d certain investments we can
make to $10 million plus (i) 50% of our net income since June 1, 2001 plus (ii) 100% of the net cash proceeds .
from the sale of qualified equity interests, plus other items and subject to other exceptions;

*  requiring us to maintain tangible net worth of at least $60 million;

*  limiting our ability to incur or create certain liens; and 1

*  placing limitations on the sale of assets, mergers and consolidations and transactions with affiliates.

In March 2005, we completed a series of refinancing transactions that we believe enhanced our liquidity and, in the
long-term, will result in significant cash interest savings. These transactions included the sale of 1,035,000 shares of our
common stock in a registered public offering resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $69.7 million and the private
placement of $350 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.25% senior notes due 2015 which resulted in net proceeds to us
of approximately $344 million. The indenture which governs the 6.25% senior notes contains covenants that are substantially

similar to the covenants in the indenture that governs our existing 7.0% senior notes, exceptlthat, among other things, the new
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indenture:
*  doces not require us to maintain a certain level of minimum tangible net worth;

*  provides that the exceptions to the limitation of the amount of additional indebtedness we may acquire with
respect to purchase money indebtedness and non-recourse and other indebtedness is unlimited;

¢ provides that the amount of dividends, reqémptions of equity interests and certain investments we can make is
limited to $25 million plus (i) 50% of net income since June. !, 2001 plus (ii) 100% of the net cash proceeds

from the sale of qualified equity interests, ~plus other items and subject to other exceptions;

* increases the amount of investments we can make in joint ventures in a permitted business with unaffiliated
third parties to 30% of our consolidated tangtble net worth (as defined in the new indenture); and

* provides for a suspension of certain coven:?ms if the new 6.25% senior notes have “investment grade ratings,”
as defined in the indenture, including covenants relating to change of control, limitations on additional
indebtedness, limitations on the amount of dxvndends redemptions of equity 1nterest and certain limitations on

investments and asset sales.

We used the proceeds from these refinancing transactions to repurchase pursuant to a tender offer and consent
solicitation approximately $276.8 million of our outstand‘\ing 9.75% senior notes due 2011. In connection with this tender
offer and repurchase, we reported in fiscal 2005 a one-time pre-tax charge of approximately $31.5 million for premiums,
commissions and expenses associated with the tender offer and the write~off of existing offering costs associated with the
9.75% senior notes, net of the accretion of existing note preminms on the 9.75% senior notes and taxes. Approximately $1.2

million of the 9.75% senior notes remain outstanding as of December 31,2005,

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with the credit facility and senior note
covenants.

We believe that our current borrowing capacity, cash on hand and anticipated net cash flows from operations are and
will be sufficient to meet liquidity needs for the foreseeab]‘e future. We believe our future cash needs will include funds for
the completion of projects that are underway, the maintenance of our day-to-day operations, and the acquisition or start-up of
additional homebuilding operations, should the opportunities arise. There is no assurance, however, that future cash flows
will be sufficient to meet future capital needs. The amounl\:‘ and types of indebtedness that we incur may be limited by the
terms of the indenture governing our senior notes and by the terms of the credit agreement governing our senior unsecured

credit facility.

In August 2004, the Board of Directors approved a stock buyback program, authorizing the expenditure of up to $50
million to repurchase shares of our common stock. As of December 31,2005; we had purchased 230,616 shares under this
program at an average price of $62.47. The program was completed in February 2006, with the repurchase of 601,000 shares
at an average price of $59.21.

In February 2006, the Board of Directors approved a new stock repurchase program, authorizing the expenditure of
up to $100 million to repurchase shares of our common stock. There is no stated expiration date for this program. We have
not repurchased any shares of our common stock under this|program.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We often acquire fiished building lots at market prices from various development entities under fixed price
purchase agreements. This lot acquisition strategy reduces t}?e financial requirements and risks associated with direct land
ownership and land development. Under these purchase agreements, we are usually required to make deposits in the form of
cash of a letter of credit, which may be forfeited if we fail o perform under the agreement. At December 31, 2005, we had
entered into purchase agreements with an aggregate purchase price of approximately $2.8 billion and had made deposits of

approximately $167.5 million in the form of cash and approfimalely $81.5 million in letters of credit.

We also enter into land acquisition and development joint ventures. We believe our participation in such joint
ventures provides us a means of accessing larger parcels and|lot positions and helps us expand our market opportunities and
manage our risk profile. Our participation in joint ventures is an increasingly important part of our business model and we
expect it to continue to increase in the future. We and/or our joint venture partners occasionally provide limited repayment
guarantees on a pro rata basis on debt of certain unconsolidat‘]ed land acquisition and development joint ventures. At
December 31, 2005, we had limited repayment guarantees of $31.1 million.
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In addition, we and/or our joint venture partners occasionally provide guarantszes that are only applicable if and
when the joint venture directly, or indirectly through agreement with its joint venture partners or other third parties, causes
the joint venture to voluntarily file a bankruptcy or similar liquidation or reorganizznion1 action (commonly referred to as “bad
boy guarantees”). These types of guarantees typically are on a pro rata basis and are designed to protect the secured lender
from the joint venture filing voluntary bankruptcy to impede the lender’s remedies with‘ respect to its mortgage or other
secured lien on the joint venture’s underlying property. To date, no such guarantees hav‘e been invoked and we believe it is
unlikely that such a guarantee would be invoked in the future as it would generally require us to voluntarily take actions that
would generally be disadvantageous to the joint venture and to us. At December 31, 20(?5, we had outstanding guarantees of
this type totaling approximately $47.3 million. By definition, guarantees of this type, unless invoked as described above, are

not considered guarantees or indebtedness under our revolving credit facility or senior note indentures.

We and our joint venture pariners are also typically obligated to the project lenders to complete land development
improvements if the joint venture does not perform the required development. Provided{we and the other joint venture
partners are in compliance with these completion obligations, the project lenders would be obligated to fund these
improvements through any financing commitments available under the applicable joint Yenture development and construction
oans. In addition, we and our joint venture partners have from time to time provided unsecured environmental indemnities to
joint venture project lenders. In some instances, these indemnities are subject to caps. These indemnities generally obligate us
to reimburse the project lenders only for claims related to environmental matters for which such lenders are held responsible.
As part of our project acquisition due diligence process to determine potential environmental risks, we, or the joint venture
entity, generally obtain an independent environmental review from outside consultants. ‘

Additionally, we and our joint venture partners have agreed to indemnify third {)any surety providers with respect to
performance bonds issued on behalf of certain of our joint ventures. If a joint venture does not perform its obligations, the
surety bond could be called. If these surety bonds are called and the joint venture fails to reimburse the surety, we and our
joint venture partners would be obligated to indemnify the surety. These surety indemnity arrangements are generally joint
and several abligations with our other joint venture partners. As of December 31, 2005, We were subject to.approximately
$30.9 million of these types of surety bond indemnity arrangements. None of these bonds have been called to date and we
believe it is unlikely that any of these bonds will be called. ‘

We also obtain letters of credit and performance, maintenance, and other bonds iin support of our related obligations
with respect to the development of our projects. The amount of these obligations outstangijng at any time varies depending on
the stage and level of our development activities. In the event the letters of credit or bond‘s are drawn upon, we would be
obligated to reimburse the issuer of the letter of credit or bond. At December 31, 2005, w‘e had approximately $17.8 million
in outstanding letters of credit and $208.0 million in performance bonds for such purposes. We believe it is unlikely that any

of these letters of credit or performance bonds will be drawn upon.
Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of our contractual obligations at December 31, 2005, and the effect such obligations are
expected to have on our liquidity and cash flows in future periods (in thousands): |
|
|
Payments Due by Period

Less than ] 4-5 More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years Years 5 Years
| ,
PENCIPal, SEMIOF NO1ES .o S 4122 5 . — 8 |- 8§ o~ 5 4812
Interest, SENIOr NOES .....veevvrrereerirresereereenns 296,236 31,095 62,}90 62,190 140,761
QOther borrowing obligations (1)(2)........e.... 39,798 36,202 3,596 - —
Interest, other borrowing obligations \ ‘

L8 OO 1,729 1,587 142 — —
Operating lease obligations (1) .....coooeerevennee. 36,673 8,380 12,683 8,627 6,983
Specific performance option obligations ...... 968 968 - — —~

Total .coooovvieerir § 856636 § 78232 § 78,g11 $ 70817 § 628976

|
|

(1) As a part of our model home construction activities, we enter into lease transactions with third parties, the monthly
payments for which are typically calculated by applying a LIBOR-based rate to the agreed upon basis of the leased asset.
As discussed in Note 5, at December 31, 2005 and 2004, approximately $39.3 and $5f13.8 million of these transactions
were included in our balance sheet as model home inventory with a corresponding debt balance, which is included in the

other borrowings category above. The portion of the lease payments relating to this obligation is included in the above
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table in “Interest, other borrowing obligations.” T‘he remainder of the lease payments relating to the model home lcases
and other operating leases is included in the “Operating lease obligations” category. See Notes 3 and 14 to our

consofidated financial statements included in this report for additional information regarding our contractual obligations.

(2) Includes $0.5 million in principal related to an acquisition and development loan with interest payments totaling $0.1
million.

We do not engage in commodity trading or other similar activities. We had no derivative financial instruments at
December 31, 2005 or 2004.

Seasonality

1

We historically sell more homes in the first half of the fiscal year than in the second half, which historically has
resulted in more home closings in the second half of thelyear due in part to the slightly seasonal nature of the market for our
move-up and luxury products. We expect this seasonal trend to continue, although it may vary as our operations continue to
expand.

Recent Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123R “Share Based
Payment” (“SEAS No. 123R”), effective for annual perlods beginning after June 15, 2005, SFAS No. 123R requires ali
share-based payments to employees to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. SFAS No. 123R
replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Co\mpensanon and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Oplmon
No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued 10 Employees” (“APB Opinion Ne. 25”). Beginning in the first quarter of 2006, we will
adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective method. Under this method, compensation expense is
recorded for all unvested options over the related vesting period beginning in the quarter of adoption. We previously applied
the intrinsic value based method prescribed in APB Opini\‘on No. 25 in accounting for employee stock-based compensation.
This statement also amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows,” to require that excess tax benefits be reflected as
financing cash inflows rather than operating cash inflows. \The impact of the.adoption of SFAS No. 123R is estimated to

result in a reduction of net earnings ranging from $8 million to $9 million depending on, among other things, the number of
options granted and the price of our stock, as well as the agsumptions used to value options granted, such as the volatility of

‘ . . \ ‘
our stock, risk-free interest rates, employee exercise patterns and employee forfeiture rates.

In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB") No. 107 regarding the Staff's interpretation of
SFAS No. 123R. This interpretation provides the Staff’s vi‘\ews regarding interactions between SFAS No. 123R and certain
SEC rules and regulations and provides interpretations of the valuation of share-based payments for public companies. We

will follow the guidance prescribed in SAB No. 107 in conpection with our adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an Amendment of APB No.
29.” SFAS No. 153 amends APB Opinion No. 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar
productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial
substance. A monetary exchange has commercial substanceif the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change
significantly as a result of the exchange. This statement is effective for the Company on January 1, 2006. The adoption of
SFAS No. 153 is not expected to have a material effect on o"ur consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Posmonl 109-1, “Application of FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting
for income Taxes,” to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Producnon Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004” (“FASB No. 109-17). FSP 109-1 clarifies guidance that applies to the new deduction for qualified domestic producuon
activities, When fully phased in, the deduction will be up to 9% of the lesser of “qualified production activities income” or
taxable income. FSP 109-1 clarifies that the deduction should be accounted for as a special deduction under FASB No. 109
and will reduce tax expense in the periods that the amounts a{re deductible on the tax return. We began applying the
provisions of FSP 109-1 January 1, 2005, and expect that the impact of this deducnon will increase as the deduction 1s phased
in under the Statute.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.” This statement, which
replaces APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes” and SEAS No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial
Statements,” changes the requirements for the accounting for'and reporting of a change in accounting principle. The
statement requires retrospective application of changes in accounting principle to prior periods’ financial statements unless it
is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS No. 154 is effective for
accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal yéars beginning after December 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS
No. 154 is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In June 2005, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) released Issue No. 04-5, “Determining Whether a General
Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Parmership or Simil‘ar Entity When the Limited Partners
Have Certain Rights.”” EITF 04-5 creates a framework for evaluating whether a general partner or a group of general partners
controls a limited partnership and therefore should consolidate the partnership. EITF 04-5 states that the presumption of
general partner control would be overcome only when the limited partners have cenam‘ specific rights as outlined in EITF 04-
5. EITF 04-5 is effective immediately for all newly formed limited partnerships and for existing limited partnership
agreements that are modified. For general partners in all other limited partnerships, EITF 04-5 is effective no later than the
beginning of the first reporting period in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. Implementatlon of EITF 04-5 is not

expected to have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations or financialjposition.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk primarily related to potential adverse changes ih interest rates on our existing
revolving credit facility. The interest rate relative to this borrowing fluctuates with the ane and LIBOR lending rates. At
December 31, 2003, we had $72.6 million drawn under our revolving credit facility that would be subject to changes in
interest rates. We do not enter into, or intend to enter into, derivative financial mstrumejnts for trading or speculative
PUIPOSEs.

Our fixed rate debt is made up primarily of $350.0 million in principal of our 6.25% senior notes, $130.0 million in
principal of our 7.0% senior notes and $1.2 million in principal of our 9.75% senior notes. Except in limited circumstances,
we do not have an obligation to prepay our fixed-rate debt prior to maturity and, as a res“u]t, interest rate risk and changes in
fair value should not have a significant impact on the fixed rate borrowings until we would be required to refinance such

debt.

The following table presents our long-term debt obligations, principal cash flows by maturity, weﬁighted average
interest rates and estimated fair market value. Information regarding interest rate sensiti‘vity principal (notional) amount by
expected maturity and average interest rates for the year ended December 31, 2005 follows:

December 31, 2005 Fair Value at
For the Years Ended December 31, December 31,
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Total 2005
(dollars in millions)
Fixed rate ...... $ - - - - — § 4812 34812 § 445.1(a)
Average
interest
e - - - - —  646% 646%  wa
Variable
TRLE oo $ 362() 340 020) T26() ~ - 14 112.4(b) () (d)
Average
interest *
e O - - - - - -~ - " na

() Fair value of our fixed rate debt at December 31, 2005, is based on quoted market prices by independent dealers.

(b) $36.2, $2.9 and $0.2 million relates to our model home lease program in 2006, 2007 and 2008. Although we have no legal
obligation to repay this amount, generally accepted accounting principles require we inchude this liability and a related asset
in our consolidated financial statements. The lease payments required under this program'are based on the outstanding
principal amount at approximately 6.621% of such amount per annum.

(c) $72.6 million relates to our revolving credit facility which carries a variable interest rate of LIBOR phus 1.7% per annum
or Prime.

{d) $0.5 million relates to an acquisition and development loan which carries a variable interest rate of the 30 day LIBOR
plus 3.5% per annum.

Our operations are interest rate sensitive. As overall housing demand is adversely affected by increases in interest
rates, a significant increase in mortgage interest rates may negatively affect the ability of h‘omebuyers to secure adequate
financing. Higher interest rates could adversely affect our revenues, gross margins and net|income and would also increase

our variable rate borrowing costs.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements as of Deﬁember 31, 2005 and 2004 and for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2005, together with related notes and the reports of Deloitte & Touche LLP and KPMG LLP,
independent registered public accounting firms, are on the following pages. Other required financial information is more fully

described in ltem 15.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Meritage Homes Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Meritage Homes Corporation and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial staten1ent§ are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain re‘asonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, onla test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that

our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such 2005 and 2004 consolidated financial statements present fztiirly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Meritage Homes Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as oﬁ December 31, 2003, based on the
criteria established in the Internal Control ~ Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 10, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reponiné and an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dol T st L1

Phoenix, Arizona
March 10, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Meritage Homes Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated staten{‘ems of eamings, stockholders’ equity and cash flows of Meritage
Homes Corporation and subsidiaries, formerly Meritage Corporation (the Company), for the year ended December 31, 2003.
These consclidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsiblity is to express

an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perfon‘n the andit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

. A ) . . ‘
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements refe\rred to above present fairly, in all matertal respects, the results of
operations and cash flows of Meritage Homes Corportion for the year ended December 31, 2003, in conformity wiht U.S.

generally accepted accounting principles.
- KPMe UP

Phoenix, Arizona | KPMG LLP
February 16, 2004
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MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Assets
Real estate .........
Cash and cash equivalents....
Real eState 5ot OWNEH ......oeer i
Deposits on real estate under 0pon OF COMIAC ......c...mrervreriuserrriemreessiesrissiassrens
Receivables
Goodwill ...........
Intangibles, net
Property and eqUIPMENL, NEL .....vvvrervivsiccisnsiiiseseesrseene i esssesssssseneceecsons
Prepaid expenses and OthEr SSELS........cumrviermrrceimeriiniieneeansnncnsicnsesnrisssenceenseos
Investments in unconsolidated ERtIES. ... reverrienmreerinnierieoensianicenseemseensrces

TOAL BSSEIS .vvvvveevieesie s e eeb st e e sttt

Liabilities

ACCOUNLS PAYADIE ...ccovvr s
Accrued liabilities
Home sale deposits .........coo.cccrnnns

Liabilities related to real estate not owned
Deferred tax Hability, M6 ......coocovveercoriciniicrrirmcnsccs e ssesmmessenenccens
Loans payable and other BOITOWINZS ..........covrceverienrecciverinccnsionecse s
SEIIOT ROLES ....eov- v o enr ettt ees s e

TOAL HADIHES +.vv s e cerir et ssre st ee e sesen st

Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock, par value $0.01. Authorized 50,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 33,112,358 and 31,460,050 shares at December 31, 2005 and
2004, TESPECUVEIY® o.oovrrieircnri s e
Additional paid-in Capital........c..coicoricmmireen s )
RELAINED CAMINES occevvvvrivr i et
Treasury stock at cost, 5,935,068 and 5,704,452 shares at December 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively*

Total stockhOldErs’ EQUILY .......ccoververrmerusicmr e rces e recseecnrrareneasionens

Total liabilities and stockhOIders” €QUILY ..........ooevmreevreremeriirrrieeercserercnesisessenes

* All share amounts reflect a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend that occu

December 31,

2005

2004

(In thousands, except share data)

$ 1390803 § 867218

65812, 47876
1,464 18,344
167,040 . 129,072
60,745 15,974
130,222, 91,475
14,029, 2,561
36,239 27,742
16,289 14,188
88,714 ' 50,944

$ 1971357 § 1265394

$ 140789, $ 77,799
289,307 135,790
76,299 41,537
968 14,780
20,865 1,518
112,398, 54,419
479,126 416,996
1,120,352 742,839
331 315
296,304 209,630
637,248 381,583
(83378) (68.973)
851,005 522,555

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

( Years Ended December 31,
\ ) 2005 2004 2003

{In thousands, except per share data)

HOME ClOSING TEVENUE .......cvecevorevccaerccccnniiensssneesenen et canroans “§ 2996946 $§ 2015742 § 1461981
Land ClOSING [EVENUE .......vvvevveerincenrerveomsnncerrcensconeeeen I “ 4,156 24,262 9,020
Total cloSING FEVENUE ......orveemrcrirerreneriienresecorcenens I . 3,001,102 2,040,004 1,471,001
Cost of home CloSINGS .......ccvrevevmreerecreccnrimmscrirmssecanine 1 ....................... (2,290,493)  (1,615,455)  (1,170,699)
Cost Of 1and ClOSINGS cov.v.v.evvcereerecevc e seenseres N {3,619) (16,079) {1,785)
Total cost of ClOSINGS .covvvvrverreriienircs i, l‘ ....................... (2,294112)  (1,631,534)  (1,178,484)
Home closing gross profit...........oeceeoomeercrnimmmmnmienrnes s 706,453 400,287 291,282
Land closing gross profit ......... ‘ ‘ 537 8,183 1,235
Total closing gross profit 706,990 408,470 292,517
Commissions and other sales costs1 ....................... ©(160,114) (116,527) (92,904)
General and administralive eXPenses ..., ....eereeersenreersvenrene b C o (124979) (79,257) (53,929)
Earnings from unconsolidated entities, net ... ‘ 18,337 2,783 1,743
OBER INCOME, B8 e [ 7468 9,284 4033
Loss 0 extinguishment of deb .........oounneeonercsoen N (31477 _ _
Earnings before provision for income taxes............cc...... k ...................... ‘ 416,225 224,758 151,460
Provision for INCOME taXES.....covvvvvvirverrrrssroneriasrerserecerinn ]‘\ ...................... - (160,560) (85,790) (57,054)
NEL CAMINGS ..o ( ...................... § 255665 § 138968 3 94,406
Earnings per share*: \
BASIC. ..ot s $ 948 § 533 ¢ 3.62

$ 888 § 503 % 342

BASICoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 6977 26066 . 26090
T D e 28787 27,610 27,620

* 2004 and 2003 share amounts reflect a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend that occurred in January 2005.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(In thousands)
Additional
Number of Common Paid-In Retained Treasury
Shares* Stock* Capital* Earnings Stock Total
Balance at January 1, 2003 ............. 30,454 304 197,168 1148,209 (28,373) 317,308
NEt CATINGS ..o - - —  loado6 - 94,406
Tax benefit from stock option |

EXEICISES cvvvvrrvvvavreererercesssnnnennas - — 2,805 - - 2,805
Exercise of stock options ...... 504 6 2,539 — — 2,545
Purchase of treasury stock.. - - — — (5,180) (5,180)
Stock 0ption eXpense ..........oeervcene. — — i1 - - 11
Balance at December 31,2003 ....... 30,958 310 202,523 2L2‘615 (33,553) 411,89
Net €arnings ocoocerevervrcerreriersieenenne — - - 138,968 o~ 138,068
Tax benefit from stock option ‘

EXETCISES . veorvrrenrererreessenes - - 2972 — - 2,972
Exercise of stock options 502 5 4,114 — - 4,119
Purchase of treasury stock............... - - - \ — (35,420) (35,420)
Stock option eXpense ..........ccueneenn. - — 2] — — 21
Balance at December 31, 2004 ....... 31,460 315 209,630 371,583 (68,973) 522,555
T — - - 255,665 — 255,665
Tax benefit from stock option ]

EXETTISES 1o eess oo - — 10,465 — — 10,465
Exercise of stock options ....... 617 6 6,985 - — 6,991
Purchase of treasury stock . — - - — (14,405) (14,405)
Stock 0pLoN CXPEnSe v..vcvvcnnenne. - - 25 — - 25
Issuance of common stock .............. 1,035 10 69,699 - — 69,709
Balance at December 31,2005 ....... 33,112 § 331 3 296804 $§ 637,248 $§ (83378) § 851,005

* 2004 and 2003 amounts reflect a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend that occurred in January 2005.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial stateme\:ms
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MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities: \
NEL CAININES ..vevevevesreseversoasecemssssnsesssenseessreseessse e e . 255665 5 138968 § 94406
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities: )
Depreciation and amMOrZEH0N ... .ccorerrecreeucdonsecrsirnnereriennnss ‘ 17,207 13,233 8,536
Write-off of senior note issuance Cost........coov.beverrene... ‘ 4,977 - —
Increase (decrease) in deferred tax liability .........L........... (5,965) 609 1,497
Tax benefit from stock OPHON EXEICISES .....v.vvvecrlcenrrrecnrerenrns 10,465 2972 2,805
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated entities....... T ‘ (18,337) (2,788) (1,743)
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated en&ities .................. 16,140 3,698 -
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:
TIICTEASE 11 BRI SRR .vvvoverreescvecerrcosseesercenee e crsrerereee (364,571) (136,967) (188,696)
Increase in deposits on real estate under option of contract......... ‘ (33,455) (23,776) (29,273)
Increase in receivables and prepaid expenses and ‘other assets...... {40,805) (11,347) (1,781)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued lLabilities ...........cco.e..... ‘ 208,968 63,169 54,686
Increase in home $ale dePoSIts ....v...e.cvrvvrmmeeveccchermmeenonennrensiensans, : 21,954 16,098 9,261
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitie‘s ....................... 72,243 63,869 (50,302)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investments in unconsolidated entities (89,085) (45,567) (18,580)
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated entities‘..‘. 20,799 951 1,664
Cash paid for acquisitions | (152425)  (24,165) -
Cash paid for arn-OUt AgrEEMENtS ... b (1,929) (1,780) (1,360)
Purchases of property and equipment ...........c..co..cc... I (25,219) (15,113) (17,133)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment ....... Lo 492 172 97
Net cash used in investing activities ..........ooe..ene. ‘ ........................ ‘ (247,427) (85,502) (35,812)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from loans payable and other borrowings..L........ccccoeeeecan. 3,284,162 2,044,902 1,386,535
Repayments of loans payable and other borrowings,.\ ........................ 3,211,700y  (2,078979) - (1,432,962)
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes, net | 343,835 130,088 133,375
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net........ 69,709 — —
Purchase of treasury StocK.......c.e..coomeceurennt (14,405) (35,420) (5,180)
Payments for repurchase of senior notes...... (285,472) - -
Proceeds from StOCK OPHIOR €XEICISES ...vvuverrererreererrehurecrerirccmseninans 6,991 4,119 2,545
Net cash provided by financing activities .............. 1 ........................ 193,120 64,710 84,313
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ........ ‘ ........................ 17,936 43,077 (1,801)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year..........c....... | 47876 4,799 6,600
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year............ccccrverne. I :$ 65,812 § 47876 $ 4,799

See Supplementai Disclosure of Cash Flow Information at Note 11.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIQIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

NOTE 1 - BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization. Meritage Homes is a leading designer and builder of single-family attached and detached homes in
the fast-growing southern and western United States, based on the number of home closilngs. We offer a variety of homes that
are designed to appeal to a wide range of homebuyers , including first-time, move-up, lu‘xury and active adult buyers. We
have operations in 14 metropolitan areas in Arizona, Texas, Califorma, Nevada, Colorad‘p and Florida. Meritage Homes
Corporation was incorporated in 1988 in the State of Maryland. Through our successors,| we commenced our homebuilding

operations in 1985.

We operate in Texas as Legacy Homes and Monterey Homes; in Arizona as Mernace Homes and Monterey Homes;
in Florida as Meritage Homes and Greater Homes and in California, Nevada and Colorado as Meritage Homes. At December
31,2005, we were actively selling homes in 184 communities, with base prices ranging from $109,000 to $1,147,000.

|

Basis of Presentation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
United States generally accepted accounting principles and include the accounts of Meritage Homes Corporation and those of
our consolidated subsidiaries, partnerships and other entities in which we have a controlling financial interest, and of variable
interest entities (see Note 3) in which we are deemed the primary beneficiary (col]ectivel‘y, the “Company”). Intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation and certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to
conform to owr current year financial statement presentation. In our consolidated balance ‘sheets for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, we changed the classification of our minority interests amounts of $0.4 million and $0.2
million, respectively, to present such amounts as accrued liabilities. In our conselidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended December 31, 2004, we changed the classification of distribution of capital from unconsohdated entities to present
such changes as an operating activity. We previously presented such changes as an mvestmg activity. In the accompanying
consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004, this reclasmflcatmn resulted in a $3.7 million

increase to operating cash flows and a corresponding decrease to investing cash flows from the amounts previously reported.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Liquid investments with an initial maturity of three‘ months or less are classified as
cash equivalents. Amounts in transit from title companies for home closings of approximately $62.7 million and §12.9

million are included in cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Real Estate. Real estate consists of finished home sites and home sites under developmem completed homes and
homes under construction, and land held for development. Costs capitalized include dlrecl construction costs for homes,
development period interest and certain common costs that benefit the entire community. Common costs are incurred on a
community-by-community basis and allocated to residential lots based on the number of lots to be built in the project, which
approximates the relative sales value method. Common costs incurred prior to construction are allocated to the land parcel
benefited, based on the relative fair value of the parcel prior to construction. 5

An impairment Joss is recorded when events or changes in circumstances indicate“ that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable from the cash flows generated by future disposition. Real estz‘ite 15 reviewed quarterly to
determine whether recorded costs are recoverable. In such cases, amounts are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair

value less disposal costs.

Deposits. Deposits paid related to land options and contracts to purchase land are ‘capitalized when incurred and
classified as deposits on real estate under option or contract until the related land is purchased. The deposits are then
transferred to real estate at the time the lots are acquired. To the extent they are non-refund‘\able, deposits are charged to

expense if the land acquisition is terminated or no longer considered probable.

Property and Equipment, net. Property and equipment, net, at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consists of
approximately $17.9 million and $13.5 million, respectively, of computer and office equipment and approximately $18.3
million and $14.2 million, respectively, of model home furnishings, and is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Accumulated depreciation related to these assets amounted to approximately $24.4 million ‘and $16.0 million at December
31,2005 and 2004, respectively. Depreciation is generally calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, which range from three to seven years. Maintenance and repair costs are‘expensed as incurred.

Deferred Costs. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, deferred costs representing ﬁnax‘)cing fees totaled approximately
$6.7 million, net of accumulated amortization of approximately $2.4 million and $3.7 million, respectively, and are included
on our consolidated balance sheets within prepaid expenses and other assets. The costs are primarily amortized using the
straight line method which approximates the effective interest method. Additionally, in 2005, we wrote off approximately
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$5.0 million of deferred costs related to our 9.75% senior notes of which $278.8 million in aggregate principal amount was
repurchased during 2003. ‘

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities. We bse the equity method of accounting for investments in unconsolidated
entities over which we exercise significant influence but do not have a controlling interest. Under the equity method, our
share of the unconsolidated entities’ earnings or loss is inclnded in eamings from unconsolidated entities, net. We use the

cost method of accounting for investments in unconsolidated entities over which we do not have significant influence.

Intangibles, net. Intangible assets consist prim'an’]y of non-compete agreements, tradenames and floor plan designs
acquired in connection with our February 2005 acquisition of Colonial Homes and our September 2005 acquisition of Greater
Homes. These intangible assets were valued at the acquisition dates utilizing accepted valuation procedures. The non-
compete agreements, tradenames and floorplan designs are being amortized over their estimated useful lives. The acquired
cost and accumulated amortization of our intangible asséts was $11.5 million and $1.9 million, respectively, at December 31,

2005. Amortization expense is expected to be approx1mately $2.9 million in 2006 and $2.8, $2.3, $1.1 and $0.5 miliion per
year in 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 respectively.

Additionally, we have capitalized software costts at December 31,2005 and 2004, in accordance with SOP 98-1
*Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Development or Obtained for Internal Use” with a cost basis of $6.9 and $3.2
million, respectively, net of accumulated amortization of $2.5 and $0.6 million, respectively. In 2005, amortization expense

was approximately $1.9 million related to the capitalized software costs and is expected to be approximately $2.9 million in
2006 and $1.5 million in 2007. l

Accrued Linbilities. Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following:

At December 31,
" 2005 2004

Accruals related to real estate \

development and construction

ACHVILES 1vvvroeeerre e Lo $ 135953 § 51,230
Payroll and other benefits........ R . 51,382 30,349
ACCTUEG 1BXES e I 48941 16231
Warranty reserves ..o ]‘ ............... 25,168 14,967
Other accruals - 27,863 23,013

Total.... § 289307 § 135,790

Revenue Recognition. Revenue from closings of residential real estate is recognized when closings have occurred,
the buyer has made the required minimum down payment,|obtained necessary financing, the risks and rewards of ownership
are transferred to the buyer, and we have no continuing involvement with the property, which is generally the close of
€SCrow.

Cost of Home Closings. Cost of home closings includes direct home construction costs, closing costs, land
acquisition and development costs, development period interest and common costs. Direct construction costs are accumulated

during the period of construction and charged to cost of closings under specific identification methods, as are closing costs.

Estimated future warranty costs are charged to cost of home closings in the period when the revenues from the
related home closings are recognized. Costs are accrued based upon historical experience and generally range from .30% to
.78% of the home’s sales price (see Note 14).

Income Taxes. We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under the asset and liability method of SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets
and habilities are recognized for the future tax consequence‘s attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and Labilities and their rjespective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in future years and are subsequently adjusted for
changes in the rates. The effect on deferred tax assets and | liabilities of a change in tax rates is a charge or credit to deferred

tax expense in the period of enactment.

Advertising Costs. The Company expenses advemsmg costs as they are incurred. Advertising expense was
approximately $21.7 million, $14.4 million and $12.4 lmllm(n in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Stock Spiits, In April 2002 and in January 20085, we\ completed two-for-one splits of our common stock in the form
of stock dividends. All share and per share amounts have been restated to reflect the stock splits.
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Earnings Per Share. We compute basic earnings per share by dividing net eam(ings available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share
gives effect to the potential dilution that could occur if securities or contracts to issue common stock that are dilutive were

~ > ! . .
exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in our earnings.

Stock-Based Compensation. We have a stock-based employee compensation plan under which officers, key
employees, non-employee directors and consultants may be granted options to purchase shares of our authorized but unissued
common stock. This plan is described more fully in Note 9. We apply the intrinsic value-“based method of accounting
prescribed in Accounting Principles Board (“*APB”) Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Sto‘ck Issued to Employees,” as allowed
by SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure.” Under this method, compensation expense is recorded on the date of the grant
only if the market price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant was greater than t‘he exercise price. SFAS No. 123
established accounting and disclosure requirements using 2 fair value-based method of ac‘counting for stock-based employee
compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS No. 123, we continue to apply the intrinsic value-based method of accounting
described above, and have adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123. We have not issued options with exercise
prices below the market value on the date of the grant; therefore, we have not recognized compensation expense relating to
below-market grants for our stock-based plan. Had compensation cost for this plan been (}etermined pursuant to SFAS No.
123, our net earnings and earnings per share would have been reduced to the following unaudited pro forma amounts. Per
share amounts reflect a 2-for-1 stock split effective January 2005.

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
2005 2004 | 2003
Net eamings ................. As reported § 255,665  § 138968 § 94 406
Deduct* (7,501) (4,357) (3,541)
Pro forma $ 248,164 § 134611 § . 90,365
Basic earnings per 1
share........oecneeneen As reported $ 948 % “5.33 $ 3.62
Pro forma $ 920 § 516 $ 3.49
Diluted earnings per
SHALE ..o As reported $ 888 § §,03 $ 342
Pro forma $ 862 § 488 § 3.29

* Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method for awards, net of
related tax effects.

The pro forma results above are not intended to be indicative of future results upon our adoption of SFAS No.
123R. |

i s
The fair value for these options was established at the grant date using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following weighted average assumptions for the years presented:

2005 2004 2003
Expected dividend Yield........ccoeerevriooneerioscnecrsesnirress 0% | 0% 0%
Risk-free INTerest rale..........occrveereiererricmsrmnricrecmecsriennsiomesnios 441 % 4.39% 333%
FExpected vOlattY ..o, S2.10% 3550%  54.66%
Expected life (it YEAIS) ...owcrrieeriorecnecmncassensensscssscemennonss 7 7 7.
Weighted average fair value of Options .............ccciervvvvcvrennnnne $ 3543 0§ 1937 § 956

Goodwill. Upon our January 1, 2002 adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill
is no longer subject to amortization, though it is subject to at least an annual assessment for|impairment by applying a fair
value-based test. If the carrying amount of the net assets of an identified reporting unit exceeds the fair value of that reporting
unit, goodwill is considered to be impaired. We continuatly evaluate whether events and cir‘cumstances have occurred that
indicate the remaining balance of geodwill may not be recoverable. In evaluating impairment, we base our estimates of fair
value on an analysis of selected business acquisitions in the homebuilding industry provide(‘i to us by an independent third
party. Such evaluations for impairment are significantly impacted by the amount a buyer is willing to pay in the current

market for a like business.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments. We determine fair value of financial instruments as required by SFAS No.

107, “Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instrn}‘nentsf’
The estimated fair value of our 9.75% senior n‘\otes at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $1.3 and $309.4 million,
respectively, based on quoted market prices by independent dealers, The aggregate principal amount of these notes at

December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $1.2 and $280.0 million, respectively. .

The estimated fair value of our 7.0% senior notes at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $123.5 and $133.9 million,

respectively, based on quoted market prices by independent dealers. The aggregate principal amount of these notes at
December 31, 2003 and 2004 was $130.0 million.

The estimated fair value of our 6.25% senior nétes at December 31, 2005 was $320.3 million based on quoted

market prices by independent dealers. The aggregate pri})cipal amount of these notes at December 31, 2005 was $350.0
million.

Our revolving credit facility and liabilities relatﬁzd to our model lease program carry interest rates that are variable
and/or comparable to current market rates based on the n‘ature of the obligations, their terms and remaining maturity, and
therefore, the cost basis approximates fair value.

Due to the short-term nature of other financial assets and liabilities, we consider the carrying amounts of our short-
term financial instruments to approximate fair value.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements. In December 2004 the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R “Share Based
Payment” (“SFAS No. 123R”), effective for annual perlogs beginning after June 15, 2005. SFAS No. 123R requires all
share-based payments to employees to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. SFAS No. 123R
replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB Opinion No. 257). Beginning in the first quarter of 2006, we will
adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 123R using the modiﬁeg prospective method. Under this method, compensation expense is
recorded for all unvested options over the related vesting Reriod beginning in the quarter of adoption. We previously applied
the intrinsic value based method prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25 in accounting for employee stock-based compensation.
This statement also amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows,” to require that excess tax benefits be reflected as
financing cash inflows rather than operating cash inflows. The impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R is estimated to
result in a reduction of net earnings ranging from approxin‘mtely $8 million to $9 millien in 2006, depending on, among other
things, the number of options granted and the price of our stock, as well as the assumptions used to value options granted,

such as the volatility of our stock, risk-free interest rates, employee exercise patterns and employee forfeiture rates.

In March 2003, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 107 regarding the Staff’s interpretation of
SFAS No. 123R. This interpretation provides the Staff’s vi\‘ews regarding interactions between SFAS No. 123R and certain
SEC rules and regulations and provides interpretations of the valuation of share-based payments for public companies. We

will follow the guidance prescribed in SAB No. 107 in confection with our adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15‘3, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an Amendment of APB No.
29" SFAS No. 153 amends APB Opinion No. 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar
productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial
substance. A monetary exchange has commercial substance \if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change
significantly as a result of the exchange. This statement is effective for the Company on January 1, 2006. The adoption of

SFAS No. 153 is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position|109-1 , “Application of FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting
for Income Taxes,” to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Productlon Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004” (“FASB No. 109-17). FSP 109-1 clanfies guidance lhat applies to the new deduction for qualified domestic producuon
activities. When fully phased in, the deduction will be up to 9% of the lesser of “qualified production activities income” or
taxable income. FSP 109-1 clarifies that the deduction should be accounted for as a special deduction under FASB No. 109
and will reduce tax expense in the periods that the amounts are deductible on the tax return. We began applying the
provisions of FSP 109-1 January 1, 2005, and expect that the)impact of this deduction will increase as the deduction is phased
in under the statute.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.” This statement, which
replaces APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes™ and SEAS No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Intenim Financial
Statements,” changes the requirements for the accounting for ‘and reporting of a change in accounting principle. The
statement requires retrospective application of changes in accounting principle to prior periods’ financial statements unless it

is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS No. 154 is effective for
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accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after Decefnber 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS
No. 154 15 not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2005, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) released Issue No. 04-\5, “Determining Whether a General
Parmer, or the General Pariners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Parmers
Have Certain Rights.” EITF 04-5 creates a framework for evaluating whether a general partner or a group of general partners
controls a limited partnership and therefore should consolidate the partnership. EITF 04“ 3 states that the presumption of
general partner control would be overcome only when the limited partners have certain specxﬁc rights as outlined in EITF 04-
5. EITF 04-5 is effective immediately for all newly formed limited partnerships and for ex1stmo limited partnership
agreements that are modified. For general partners in all other limited partnerships, EITE 04-5 is effective no later than the
beginning of the first reporting period in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005, Implementation of EITF 04-5 is not

expected to have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.
NOTE 2 - REAL ESTATE AND CAPITALIZED INTEREST

Real estate at December 31 consists of the following (in thousands):

2005 2004
Homes under contract tnder CONStIUCHON 1 .........eveeeeeenereeerenessessesseseseesessrecborens $ 815925 § 492378
Finished home sites and home sites under development.........cc..cconeecrennnnn. .. 370,921 263,041
Unsold homes, completed and under construction R 116,088 53,098
MOGE] ROMES ..ot 45,060 1,294
Model home 16aSe PIOBIAM ....coouvrvvverimcriioninrrms e enerersres s seecneneee ... 39,336 53,819
Land held for development...... ... mmmecranrmemimrernsrnesrersssscessessresssessssssessens L. 3473 3,588

$ 1390803 § 867218

Subject to sufficient qualifying assets, we capitalize all development period interesl‘costs incurred in connection with
the development and construction of real estate. Capitalized interest is allocated to real esfate when incurred and charged to
cost of closings when the related property is delivered. Certain information regarding interest follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004
Capitalized interest, beginming 0Of Year...........c.cvmvrconcversmimeenemmionenseeecsnnton $ 19701 § 13074
Interest incurred and CaDItGzed. ..o L. 43034 38855
Amortization to cost of home and land closmgsJ (38,796) (32,228)
Capitalized interest, end of YaT ..o sriercencesree oo 23939 § 19,701

i

NOTE 3 - VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES AND CONSOLIDATED REAL ESTATE NOT OWNED

|

FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of VariableT Interest Entities” (“FIN 46R™)
requires the consolidation of entities in which an enterprise absorbs a majority of the ennty~ s expected losses, receives a
majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both, as a result of ownership, contractual or other financial interests in
the entity. Prior to the issuance of FIN 46R, entities were generally consolidated by an ente‘rpnse when it had a controlling
financial interest through ownership of a majority voting interest in the entity.

Under FIN 46R, a variable interest entity, or VIE, is created when any of the following factors are present: (i) the
equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities withoult additional subordinated financial
support from other parties, (ii) equity holders either (a) lack direct or indirect ability to mak\e decisions about the entity, {b)
are not obligated to absorb expected losses of the entity, or (c) do not have the right to receiye expected residual returns of the
entity or {iii) the equity investors as a group are considered to lack the direct or indirect ability to make decisions about the
entity if (x) the voting rights of some investors are not proportional to their obligations to ag‘sorb the expected losses of the
eniity, their rights to receive the expected residual returns of the entity, or both, and (y) substantially all of the entity’s

activities either involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor that has dispropoﬁionatel)\f fewer voting rights.

Based on the provisions of FIN 46R, we have concluded that when we enter into of)tion or purchase agreements to
acquire land or lots from an entity and pay a non-refundable deposit, a VIE is created because we are deemed to have
provided subordinated financial support, which refers to variable interests that will absorb some or all of an entity’s expected
losses if they occur. For each VIE created, we compute expected losses and residual returns pased on the probability of future
cash flows as outlined in FIN 46R. If we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VH‘E, because we are obligated to
absorb the majority of the expected losses, receive the majority of the residual returns, or both, we will consolidate the VIE in

our consolidated financial statements, Not all of our purchase or option agreements are determined to be VIEs.
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We have applied FIN 46R by developing a methodology to determine whether or not we are the primary beneficiary
of the VIE. Part of this methodology requires the use of estimates in assigning probabilities to various future cash flow
possibilities relative to changes in the fair value and cha\nges in the development costs associated with the property. Although
we believe that our accounting policy properly identifies our primary beneficiary status with these VIEs, changes in the

probability estimates could produce different conclusions regarding our primary beneficiary status.

We generally do not have any ownership interelst in the VIEs that hold the lots znd land under option or contract,
and accordingly, we generally do not have legal or other‘access to the VIEs books or records. Therefore, it is not possible for
us to compel the VIEs to provide financial or other data to us in performing our primary beneficiary evaluation. Accordingly,
this Jack of information from the VIEs may result in our evaluation being conducted primarily based on management’s
judgments and estimates. ‘

In most cases, creditors, if any, of the entities with which we have option agreements have no recourse against us
and the maximum exposure to loss in our option agreeme{nts is Jimited to our option deposit. Often, we are at risk for items
over budget related to land development on property we have under option. In these cases, we have contracted to complete
development at a fixed cost on behalf of the land owner. Some of our option deposits may be refundable if certain contractual

conditions are not performed by the party selling the lots.

The table below presents a summary of our lots under option at December 31, 2005 (dollars in thousands):

Option/Earnest
‘ Money Deposits
Number Fair Purchase Letters
of Lots Value Price Cash of Credit

Total specific performance options recorded on
balance sheet as real estate not owned (1).............

300§ 1464 S 1464 8 49 § -

Option contracts not recorded on balance sheet

~ non-refundable deposits (1) ........occovverivrrcervenncns 33,415 wa 2,112,560 141,206 81,519
Purchase contracts not recorded on balance
sheet ~ non-refundable deposits (1) ..c......covcrvceenes 14,588 n/a 496,983 23,637 —

Purchase contracts not recorded on balance

sheet - refundable deposits (2)......co.cvveeen, . 10,273 n/a 234,067 2,197 —
Total options not recorded on balance sheet......... {58,276 wa 2,843,610 167,040 81,519
Total lots under option or CONrAC .....o.nmrrcerrr. 158,306 $2,845074 $ 167536 $ 81,519

|
|

(1) Deposits are non-refundable except if certain contractual conditions are not performed by the selling party.

(2) Deposits are refundable at our sole discretion. Includes 9,098 lots under control for which we have not completed our
acquisition evaluation process and we have not internally committed to purchase.

|

Note: Except for our specific performance options, none ofjour option agreements require us to purchase lots. Our option to
purchase lots remains effective so long as we purchase a pre-established minimum number of lots each month or quarter, as
determined by the agreement. The pre-established number o]f lots typically is structured to approximate our expected rate of
home orders.

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

We participate in homebuilding and land development joint ventures from time to time as a means of accessing
larger parcels of land and lot positions, expanding our market opportunities, managing our risk profile and leveraging our
capital base. We had equity investments of 50% or less and did not have controlling financial interests in these
unconsolidated entities at December 31, 2005, Our joint vent“ure partners generally are other homebuilders, land sellers or
other real estate investors. We also enter into mortgage and title business joint ventures from time to time. These
unconsolidated entities follow accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and we share in their

profits and losses generally in accordance with our ownership interests.

For land development joint ventures, we and, in some cases, our joint venture partners, usually receive an option or
other similar arrangement to purchase portions of the land held by the unconsolidated joint ventures. Option prices are
generally negotiated prices that approximate market value when we enter into the option contract. For homebuilding and land
development joint ventures, our share of the joint venture earnings relating to lots we purchase from the joint ventures is

deferred until homes are delivered by us and title passes to a homebuyer. At such time, we allocate our joint venture earnings
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to the land acquired by us as a reduction in the basis of the property.

Summarized condensed financial information related to unconsolidated joint ventures that are accounted for using
the equity method was as follows: ‘

At December 31,
| 2005 2004
| (in thousands)
Assets:
SN oo ees s e eas s e s eee st s e s s et st een s ene s st eeeserene e $110337 § 8689
REALESLALE ...ttt b e ees 524,775 227,104
OHRET BSSELS .....cvvoeeveseesessiene s s st sss st s besseeas s ss st s aes s ssneen 22,373 13,026

557485 $ 248819
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Liabilities and equity: . ‘
32244 § 13284

Accounts payable and other Habilities ...........cuerrccrrverivonecrrcriiie. $
Notes and mortgages payable ... 299,493 145,209
Equity of: i

METIAZE 1...ovvvvsnssemreenenescrneeesssssscsssssmsesmimsssssesonssemsaenecemsassasessisssareresses l 72,362 40,785

101111 O, . 153,381 49,541

Total liabilities and EqUILY. .........cevrerrvrerererssreesssscsssessssessseessrnare $ 557485 § 248819
Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)

REVETHIES ....vooovvvi v assssecssessssasss emsssssssssssesssssans § 145580 § (29,130 § 20404
CO8tS AN LXPERIES vvrvvverrerrencsrerenseerennresrinncesssenseasioess 91,289y  (21917)  (12248)
Net earnings of unconsolidated entities . e 542918 7213 8 8,156
Meritage’s share of pre-tax eamings *...........ccccovvenn $ 19420 § 12788 § 1,743

¥ Qur share of net earnings is recorded in “Eamnings from unconsolidated entities, net” on our consolidated statements of
earnings. Our share of net earnings excludes joint venture earnings related to lots we purchased from the joint ventures.

Those earnings are deferred until homes are delivered by us and title passes to a homebuyer.

At December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, our investments in unconsolidated entities includes $1.5 million and
$2.9 million, respectively, related to the difference between the amounts at which our investments are carried and the amount
of underlying equity in net assets. These amounts are amortized to equity of eamings of unconsolidated entities over the life
of the respective joint ventures, which offsets their related earnings. We amortized approxin:m[el y $1.1 million to our equity
of the joint venture earnings in 2003. There was no such amortization recorded in 2004.

Tn addition to joint ventures accounted for under the equity method summarized in the above table, at December 31,
2005 and December 31, 2004, our investments in unconsolidated entities included joint ventures recorded under the cost
method. These joint ventures were formed to obtain large parcels of land, to perform off»site\ development work and to sell
lots to the joint venture members. As of December 31, 2005, and December 31, 2004, our inyestments in urconsolidated
entities recorded under the cost method were $14.9 and $7.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2003, we have not

recorded any income or distributions from these joint ventures.
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NOTE 5 - LOANS PAYABLE AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Loans payable at December 31 consist of the following (in thousands):
2005 204

$600 million unsecured revolving credit facility maturing May 2009 with extension
provisions, with interest payable monthly approximati‘ng LIBOR (approximately
4.535% at December 31, 2005) plus 1.7% or Prime (7‘].25% at December 31, 2005}...... $ 72,600 $ -

Model home lease program, with interest in the form of lease payments payable

monthly approximating 6.621% at December 31, 2005 .o 39,336 53,819

Other borrowings, acquisition and development fINANCING.......v.cerreervnmsitirivescrerersnrerices 462 600
|

Total loans payable and other borrowings ............... ‘ ............................. NN § 112398 § 54419

We have determined that the construction costs and related debt associated with certain model homes which are
owned and leased to us by others and that we use to mark‘et our communities are required to be included on our balance sheet.
We do not legally own the model homes, but we are re1mpursed by the owner for our construction costs and we have the
right, but not the obligation, to purchase these homes. Although we have no legal obligation to repay any amounts received
from the third-party owner, such amounts are recorded as|debt and are typically deemed repaid when we simultaneously
exercise our option to purchase the model home and sell such model home to a third-party home buyer. Should we elect not
1o exercise our rights to purchase these model homes, the ‘model home costs and related debt under the model lease program
will be eliminated upon the termination of the lease, which is generally between one and three years from the origination of

the lease.

On December 26, 2005, we amended our $600 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility to add an accordion
feature that will allow Meritage to request from time to time an aggregate increase of up to $200 million in the maximum
borrowing commitment. Each member of the lending groub may elect to participate or not participate in any request we
make. In addition, any increase in the borrowing capacity pursuant to this accordion feature is subject to certain terms and

conditions, including the absence of an event of default.
NOTE 6 - SENIOR NOTES

Senior notes at December 31 consist of the following (in th1ousands):

| 2005 2004
6.25% senior notes due 2015. At December 31, 2005, there\was approximately $1.6
million in unamortized diSCOUNL...........ccorerveemrivireriierriannsd et s $ 34839 $ ~
7.0% senior notes due 2014. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, there was :
approximately $0.1 million in unamortized premium....... \ ............................. e 130,074 130,083

9.75% senior notes due 2011. At December 31, 2005 and 2004 there was
approximately $0.1 million and $6.9 million in unamortized premium,
TESPECHIVELY. ..o cnsccerecsicnsisseseserecesscsmns s e 1,256 286,913
* 419726 $ 416996

In March 2005, we used a portion of the proceeds from the $350 million sale of our 6.25% senior notes to
repurchase pursuant to a tender offer and consent solicitation approximately $276.8 million of our outstanding 9.75% senior
notes due 2011. In connection with this tender offer and repurchase, we reported a one-time pre-tax charge of approximately
$31.5 miilion for premiums, commissions and expenses associated with the tender offer and the write-off of existing offering
costs associated with the 9.75% senior notes, net of the accretion of existing note premiums on the 9.75% senior notes and

taxes in 2005. Later during 2005, we repurchased an additiorial $2 million of our 9.75% senior notes.

The bank facility and indentures for the 7% senior notes due 2014 and the 6.25% senior notes due 2015 contain
covenants which require maintenance of certain levels of tanéible net worth and compliance with certain minimum financial
ratios, place limitations on the payment of dividends and redémptions of equity, and limit the incurrence of additional
indebtedness, asset dispositions, mergers, certain investmentﬁ and creations of liens, among other items. As of and for the
year ended December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with Ehese covenants, After considering our most restrictive bank
covenants, our borrowing availability under the bank credit facility was approximately $428.1 million at December 31, 2005
as determined by borrowing base limitations defined by our agreement with the lending banks. The revolving credit facility
and senior notes restrict our ability to pay dividends, and at December 31, 2005, our maximum permitted amount available to

pay dividends was $127.8 million, which is equal to 50% of olir consolidated et income for the most recent four quarters.



Obligations to pay principal and interest on the bank credit facility and senior r‘lotes are guaranteed by all of our
subsidiaries (collectively, the Guarantor Subsidiaries), each of which is directly or indirectly 100% owned by Meritage

Homes Corporation, other than certain minor subsidiaries (collectively, Non-Guarantor SUbSldIal'lCS) Such guarantees are
full and unconditional, and joint and several. Separate financial statements of the Guarar“nor Subsidiaries are not provided
because Meritage (the parent company) has no independent assets or operations, the guaFantees are full and unconditional and
joint and several, and the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries are, individually and in the aggregate, minor. There are no significant

restrictions on the ability of the parent company or any guarantor o obtain funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan.
y p pany Y8 J ¥

]

Scheduled principal maturities of loans payable and other borrowings and senior notes as of December 31, 2005
follow (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

$ 361202
3424
172
72,600

481 232
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NOTE 7~ ACQUISITIONS AND GOODWILL

Greater Homes. In September 2005 we purchased all of the outstanding stock of| Greater Homes, Inc. (“Greater
Homes™), a builder of single-family homes in Orlando, Florida. The purchase price was approximately $86.2 million in cash,
including the repayment of existing debt of approximately $27.7 million. The results of Greater Homes’ operations have been
mcluded in oor financial statements since September 1, 2005, the effective date of the acqunsmon Assets and liabilities were
recorded at their estimated fair market value at the date of acquisition, and are subject to change when we finalize our
analysis.

Coloninl Homes. In February 2003, we purchased the homebuilding and refated assets of Colonial Homes of Florlda
{*Colomal Homes"), which operates primarily in the Ft. Myers/Naples area. The purohase pnce was approximately $66.2
million in cash. The results of Colonial Homes operations have been included in our consolidated financial statements as of
the effective date of acquisition, February 1, 2005. ‘

Citation Homes of Southern California. Effective January 1, 2004, we purchased]\ the homebuilding and related
assets of Citation Homes of Southern California (“Citation”), which operates primarily in the Inland Empire region of the
greater Los Angeles area. The purchase price was approximately $24.2 miflion in cash, anq we agreed to an earn-out of 20%
of the pre-tax profits of the Southern California operations after capital charges as defined in the purchase agreement, payable

in cash over three years.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of our acquisitionsjover the fair value of the assets
acquired. The acquisitions of Citation, Colonial Homes and Greater Homes were recorded usmg the purchase method of
accounting. The purchase prices were allocated based on estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities assumed at the date
of the acquisition. The excess purchase price over the fair value of the net assets, of $11.2 rr‘ulhon, $27.9 million and $10.1
million for Citation, Colonial Homes and Greater Homes, respectively, were recorded as go?dwi which is included on our
consolidated balance sheets. We expect that substantially all of the goodwill recorded for the Citation and Colomal Homes
acquisitions will be deductible for tax purposes.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows
(in thousands):

Balance at January 1, 2004 .......cc..coeocovvenemnricnncennan $ 75,645
Goodwill acquired during the year..........cccooevercmnee. 11 214
Increase due to earn-out agreements.... l2 147
Purchase accounting adjustment ... . ]2,469
Balance at December 31,2004 oo, 91475
Goodwill acquired during the Year...........cccoveeervvencn. 37,802
Increase due to earn-oul agreements. ...........oceeecenneens 1,476
Purchase accounting adjustment.... | (531)
Balance at December 31, 2005 $ 130,222

. |

|




Prior to 2004, we acquired the assets of several|companies, at which time the basis of goodwill for tax purposes was
determined to be in excess of the book basis in goodwilll Current tax law provides for the amortization of purchased
goodwill. Under this circumstance, SFAS No. 109 requi}es that the goodwill be separated into two components. The first
component is equivalent to book goodwill and future tax amortization of this component s treated as a temporary difference,
for which a deferred tax liability is established. The second component is the excess tax goodwill over the book goodwill, for
which no deferred taxes are recognized. The tax benefit from the recognition on the tax return of the amortization of the

. - | .
second component is treated as a reduction in the book basis of goodwill.

Under the guidelines contained in SFAS No. 14?, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” management selected
January 1 as the date of our annual goodwill impairment test. During 2005 and 2004, management performed an analysis of
potential impairment of goodwill carried and determinedithat no impairment existed. During the first quarter of 2006, our
analysis of potential impairment of goodwill carried on our balance sheet at December 31, 2005 was completed, and we
determined that no impairment existed.

NOTE 8 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, were calculated as follows (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

2005 2004 2003

Basic average number of shares outstanding ....... — 26977 26,066 26,090

Effect of ditutive secarities:
Options to acquire COMMON SLOCK ...eovevveemeeberiorimnerarnens 1,810 1,544 1,530
Diluted average shares outstanding + 28,787 27,610 27,620

Neteammgsl ................ $ 255665 § 138968 § 94,406

Basic earnings per sHare ............cooeevvvienrvcnrenerennne { ................. $ 948 § 533 % 3.62
Diluted earnings per share ..........cc.occorcvvvumrrcirecerbevivenmienrane $ - 888 § 503 § 3.42

Antidilutive stock options not included in the calculation
of diluted earnings per share.........cooocereccrrinedeseccricnninn, Y - —

NOTE 9 - INCENTIVE AWARDS AND RETIREMENT PLAN
Stock Based Compensation

Our Board of Directors administers our current sto‘ck option plan, which has been approved by our stockhalders. The
plan authorizes grants of incentive stock options and non- qﬁmlifmd stock options to our officers, key employees, non-
employee directors and consultants. The plan provides a means of performance-based compensation in order to attract and
retain qualified employees. At December 31, 2005, a total 9f 3,289,872 shares of Meritage common stock were reserved for
issuance upon exercise of stock options granted under this plan. The options vest over periods from one to five years from the

grant date, are based on continued employment or service and expire five to ten years after the grant date.

We apply APB Opinion No. 25 and related imerpr?tations in accounting for our plan. Under APB No. 25, if the
exercise price of our stock options is at least equal to the market price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant, no
compensation expense is recognized. The pro forma information regarding net earnings and earnings per share required by
SFAS No. 148 is included in Note 1.
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Summary of stock option activity:

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 | 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Plice Options Price
Options outstanding at \
beginning of year: ................. 2,901,030 $ 1773 2,693,024 § 1 1137 2,636,700 $ 8.99
Granted.......... 588,750 § 6040 380,500 % { 31.86 698,000 § 1633
Exercised......ooeernnrinnnns (617,298) $ 1133 {500,974y § 3.22 (504,196) $ 5.05
Canceled......ccoovvcevrrericens (73,200) § 26.03 {171,520) $ 18.21 (137480) § 1408
Options outstanding at end of
YEAT .ot eneensecnaas 2,799,282 § 2790 2901030 § 1773 2693024 § 1137
Options exercisable at end of ‘
YEAT. o cvvvemrivvsvsenrrsssreesssnessnenns 961,130 855,708 717,710
Price range of options ‘
EXETCISE .vvivrvrvevrrevnereernnan $1.41-$36.91 $2.50-$26.24 $1.41-$19.30
Price range of options
outstanding.......eereerceernnniens $141-$8196 $1.41-84429 $1.41-82624
Total shares reserved at end
OF YeAr oo 3,289,872 3,907,170 2,808,104
Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005, were: ]
Stock Options Outstanding | Stock Options Exercisable
Weighted |
Average Weighted Weighted
Range of Number Contractual Average Number Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 1.41-310.00 s 627,514 1.4 years $ 7.02] 521314 % 6.98
$15.00 - $27.00 ..o 850,284 4.0 years $ 1771 325916 § 18.13
$30.00 - $45.00 ..o 743,634 5.3 years $ 31.88 113900 § 31.89
$50.00 - $65.00 506,750 6.3 years $ 58.60 - 3 -
$66.00 - $82.00 71,000 6.7 years $ 73.51 ) -
2,799,282 4.7 years $ 27.90 961,130 $ 13.72

401(k) Retirement Plan

We have a 401(k) plan for all full-time Meritage employees who have been with \the Company for a period of six
months or more. We match portions of employees” voluntary contributions, and contrlbuted to the plan approximately $1.4
million, $1.2 million and $0.6 million for the years ended 2003, 2004 and 2003, respectlvely ‘

\
\
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NOTE 10 - INCOME TAXES

Components of income tax expense (benefit) are (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Current taxes: \

Feral oo $ 144287 § 74819 § 49,543
SEAE oo e 0038 10,362 6014
166,525 85,181 55,557

Deferred taxes: ‘
Federal (5,170) 524 1265
SEAE e O (795) 85 232
(5.965) 609 1497
TOtAL oo $ 160560 § 85790 $ 57,54

Income taxes differ for the years ended Decembe‘r 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, from the amounts computed using the
expected federal statutory income tax rate of 35% as a result of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Expected taxes at current federal statutory income tax rate.......... $ 145679 § 78,665 § 53011
State income taxes, net of Federal tax benefit | 13,938 6,791 3,997
Non-deductible costs and other 943 334 46
INCOME tAX EXPENSE....vvvvrvvevereeees v orssenssens b $ 160560 § 85790 § 57054

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recog‘nized in the consolidated balance sheets due to the following
temporary differences at December 31 (in thousands): ‘

2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:

Warranty reserve $ 7859 § 5014

Wages payable.......... 1,828 1,425
Accrued expenses 1,770 859
Reserves and allowarces ‘ 1,685 21
L0111 S 450 579
Total deferred tax assets 13,592 8,088
Deferred tax liabilities:
Real estate and fixed asset basis differences)..........ccoooevverccvvcveren, 19,645 2,451
GOOAWINL ..o e e 8,607 5,632
Itangibles .......coveeereverccricomcercrercnsienien, Do 3,681

Prepaids 1,959 1029
Other ..o 565 494
Total deferred tax liabilities ‘ 34 457 9,606

Net deferred tax Bability ......ccooocmreercil oo $ (20365) %  (1,518)

On an annual basis, we review our deferred tax asse\ts based on open tax years, the status of refund claims filed and
other factors. As a result of our acquisitions of Colonial Homes and Greater Homes, we recorded deferred tax liabilities of

approximately $25.3 million with a corresponding increase © goodwill.




NOTE 11 - SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

|

The 2005 acquisitions of Greater Homes and Colonial Homes and the 2004 acquisition of Citation Homes resulted
in the following changes in assets and liabilities (in thousands):

| 2008 2004
Tncrease in real eState........ooovvvvvevveevovevenenes e et ressress et $ (140538) § (12,036)
Increase in deposits on real estate under option or contract (5,170) (1,870)
Increase in receivables and other assets........ocovvevveinnn . (7,640) (147)
Increase in gOOAWIlL.......coorerrveriricrs st e 1 {37,302) {11,214)
Increase in intangibles ...............ooovvvvveeereccreerrce, st e s e \ (11,493) —
Increase in property and CQUIPMENL ....c....vvvcervrccmrerriesrineresessesrreeesreenesreos ! (826) (89)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued Habilities. ........cooovevvevvioenicernnnns 12,17 i 1,704
Increase in home sale dePOSIS ......c..vcvrveecrrenis v \ 12,809 87
Increase in deferred tax liability .. 26,063 -~
Net cash paid for ACQUISIHONS ...covvrrerricmrerrierries s, $1 (152425) $  (24,165)
2005 K 2004 2003

(in thousands)

Cash paid during the year for:
TRETESE oottt $ 35,8200 § 36,728 § 26,154
Income taxes § 125,026] §$ 70916 §$ 54315

Non-cash lot distributions from unconsolidated entities.............cco........ $ 33007) § 16,201 § 4,730

NOTE 12 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS |

|
We have transacted business with related or affiliated companies and with cenain\‘ officers and directors of the
Company. We believe that the terms and fees negotiated for all transactions listed below are no less favorable than those that

could be negotiated in arm’s length transactions.

Since 1997, we have leased office space in Plano, Texas {rom Home Financial Services, a Texas partnership owned
by John Landon, our co-chief executive officer, and his wife. The lease currently is on a mbnth to-month basis. Rents paid to
the partnership were approximately $268,000, $255,000 and $242,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The office rent
is included within general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statements of earnings.

|

We paid legal fees of approximately $1,643,000, $783,000 and $1,032,000 to lawlﬂrms in 2003, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, of which C. Timothy White was a partner. Mr. White served on our board of dlrectors until October 1, 2003, at
which time he joined the Company as our General Counsel. Of these fees, approximately $1 136,000, $722,000 and $892,000
were real estate project related and capitalized to real estate on our balance sheet in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The

. . .o . . | .
remaining amounts are recorded within general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statements of earnings.

During 2004, we contracted with a landbanker to acquire property in the Tucson, /}rizona area for $4.6 million.
Robert Sarver, one of our directors, has a 3.8% ownership interest in the entity that sold this property to the landbanker.
During 2005, we had purchases totaling approximately $1.2 million from the landbanker rel ated to this property. In addition,
we made purchases of approximately $64,800 directly from the entity in which Mr. Sarver Has the ownership interest. We
expect to complete the full acquisition of this property during fiscal 2007.

During 2004 the Company entered into an advertising/sponsorship agreement with the National Basketball
Association’s Phoenix Suns organization. One of our directors, Robert Sarver is the Controlling Owner and Vice Chairman
of the Phoenix Suns, and our Co-CEQ’s, Steven Hilton and Johu Landon, are minority owne‘rs of the team. In 2005 and 2004
we paid approximately $392,000 and $250,000 in advertising/sponsorship costs related to the agreement. These amounts are

recorded as general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statement of earnings.

NOTE 13 - OPERATING AND REPORTING SEGMENTS

The Company designs, constructs and sells homes designed to meet the specific needs of each of its markets.
Because the Company’s geographic homebuilding regions have similar economic characteristics, housing products and class

of prospective buyers, the geographic homebuilding regions have been aggregated into a smg‘le homebuilding segment.

All revenues are from external customers. There were no customers that contributed| 10% or more of the Company’s
total revenues during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
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NOTE 14 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

|

We are involved in various routine legal proceedings incidental to our business, some of which are covered by
insurance. With respect to the majority of pending litigat’ion matters, our ultimate legal and financial responsibility, if any,
cannot be estimated with certainty and, in most cases, any potential losses related to those matters are not considered
probable. We have reserved approximately $3.2 million for losses related to litigation and asserted claims where our ultimate
exposure is considered probable and the potential loss cafx be reasonably estimated, which is classified within acerued
liabilities on our December 31, 2005 balance sheet. Most of the matters relate to the correction of home construction defects,
foundation issues and general customer claims. We be)ie{(e that none of these matters will have a material adverse impact

upon our consolidated financial condition, results of operhtions or cash flows.

From time to time, the United States Environmental Protection Agency and Maricopa County (Arizona) Air Quality
Department have assessed fines against us for violating dust control regulations. While we strive to maintain practices that
comply with such regulations, dust control violations are “common to the residential homebuilding industry in desert regions
such as Arizona. We do not believe that such fines wil} have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position or

results of operations.

Beginning in late 2003, we established relationships with title insurance companies in three states where we do
business, under which one of our subsidiaries received a p“onion of the fees and premiums on title insurance purchased by
certain of our homebuyers and reinsured a portion of the p‘olicy risk. The Uniited States Department of Housing and Urban
Development and certain state insurance regulators are investigating these types of arrangements. In 2004, we terminated
those arrangements that were not expressly approved by a|state regulator. In total, these arrangements contributed
approximately $600,000 to our fiscal 2004 pre-tax eammgs Although we believe our arrangements were structured and
operated in compliance with applicable state and federal laws and regulations, the ultimate resolution of these investigations
could result in fines and/or a disgorgement of profits.

In the normal course of business, we provide standby letters of credit and performance bonds issued to third parties
to secure performance under various contracts. At Decemb‘er 31,2005, we had outstanding letters of credit of $99.3 million
and performance bonds of $238.9 miltion. We do not behe\ve it 1s probable that these letters of credit or bonds will be drawn

upon.

We also enter into land acquisition and development joint ventures. We believe our participation in such joint
ventures provides us a means of accessing larger parcels aﬂd lot positions and helps us expand our market opportunities and
manage our risk profile. Our participation in joint ventures is an increasingly important part of our business model and we
expect it to continue to increase in the future. We and/or our joint venture partners occasionally provide limited repayment
guarantees on a pro rata basis on debt of certain unconsolidated land acquisition and development joint ventures. At

Decemebr 31, 2005, we had limited repayment guarantees (J)f $31.1 million.

In addition, we and/or our joint venture partners occasionally provide guarantees that are only applicable if and
when the joint venture directly, or indirectly through agreeﬁ\lem with its joint venture partners or other third parties, causes
the joint venture to voluntarily file a bankruptcy or similar l‘iquidation or reorganization action (cormonly referred to as “bad
boy guarantees”). These types of guarantees typically are on a pro rata basis and are designed to protect the secured lender
from the joint venture filing voluntary bankruptey to 1mpede the lender’s remedies with respect to its mortgage or other
secured lien on the joint venture's underlying property. To date, no such guarantees have been invoked and we believe it is
unlikely that such a guarantee would be invoked in the future as it would generally require us to voluntarily take actions that
would generally be disadvantageous to the joint venture and‘ to us. At December 31, 2005, we had outstanding guarantees of
this type totaling approximately $47.3 million. By definition, guarantees of this type, unless invoked as described above, are
not considered guarantees or indebtedness under our revolving credit facility or senior note indentures.

We lease office facilities, mode!l homes and equipm‘em under various operating lease agreements. Approximate
future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2005, are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, ]

2006 oo T 8 8,380
2007 e | 6,842
2008 e R 5,841
2009 e I | 5,006
2000 o b ‘ 3,621
THEreafler ..o [ 6,983

$ 36,673



Rent expense approximated $11.7 million, $8.7 million and $8.1 million in 20(])5 2004 and 2003, respectively, and
is included within general and administrative expense or in commissions and other sales costs on our consohdated statements
of earnings. ‘

We have certain obligations related to post-construction warranties and defects related to homes closed. We have
estimated these reserves based on historical data and trends with respect to similar product types and geographical areas. A
summary of changes in our warranty reserve follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
| 2005 2004
Warranty reserve, beginning of YEar .........ccovvvvevorivrvceriormonniericrmeimienessreesssessssssenens % 14967 § 9,253
AGQUHIONS 10 TESEIVE ..o.vvvvivirriessserriaonissssrasesesser s ressns s sssssss e ssstessssassssssssasessssssrens 21,681 12,214
WRITANEY CLAIMS .......ovovvverenncesssrecesiss st sreens s sses s ssss s sessss s (11,480) (6,500)
WAIranty 1e3erve, €00 OF YEAI .o.....coovvvriveveerrrereseveresecesrmaes s $ 25168 &, 14967

Warranty reserves are included in accrued liabilities within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Additions to warranty reserves are included in cost of sales within the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings.

NOTE 15 - SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly results for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 follow (in thousands, \except per share amounts):

First Second Third * Fourth

2085 | |
REVEIUE ... § 551,168 § 653571 1§ 755450 § 1040913
GOSS PO s 11933% 153,165 ( 178068 256423
Earnings before provision for income taxes......... 38,721 94,796 112,502 170,206
NEE CAMINES .oovvvvrirvreesies ot reeseessncnreee 24,196 59,239 \ 70,253 . 101,977
Per Share Data: \

Basic earnings per share.............c.oceccvvvvvvvconicens $ 092 $ 2.19 K $ 257 % 374

Diluted camings per Share ......co.occvvvovverencen $ 0.86 § 205 |$ 240 % 3.53
2004
REVEIUE ..o recemnsessoe oo ssesvensesnins § 423502 § 433935 ;§ 482748 § 699819
GLOSS PIOMIL ...ovvcreeeee s nesas e 83,163 79,636 102,045 143,626
Earnings before provision for income taxes......... 43,463 39,826 57512 83,957
INEE CATNANES ..ovvco v o 26919 24,637 35,600 51,812
Per Share Data:

Basic earnings per share.......... $ .02 § 094 18 138 § 201

$ 09 § 089 $ 130 §. 1.88

il

Diluted earnings per share

|
Quarterly and year-to-date computations of per share amounts are made indepenqent]y. Therefore, the sum of per
share amounts for the quarters may not agree with per share amounts for the year. All share amounts reflect a 2-for-1 stock

split in the form of a stock dividend that occurred in January 2005.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures ]

Meritage maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure, that information required to be
disclosed in reports filed by Meritage under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to
Meritage’s management, including its Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, with
the participation of other members of management, the effectiveness of Meritage's dlsclosure controls and procedures {as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 15d-15(e}), as of the end of the period covered by this Annuz‘a] Report on Form 10-K. Based on
this evaluation, Meritage’s management concluded that the Company'’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
There were no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting identifi e(‘? in connection with this
evaluation that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to matenally

affect, Meritage’s internal controls over financial reporting.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated our internal
control over financial reporting to determine whether any changes occurred during the fourth quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2005 that have materially affected, or are 1geasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, there have been no such changes during the fourth quarter of the period covered
by this report.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule [3a-15(). ynder the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting based on the \frameworl\ in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Orgamizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework, our managemept concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2005. Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their attestation report which is included herein.



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Meritage Homes Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Meritage Homes Corporation and subsid‘iaries (the “Company”) maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on critenia established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framewaork issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Trea:dway Commission. The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express|an opinion on management’s

assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.[‘ Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other proceddres as we considered necessary in

the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions\.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing sirr‘li]ar functions, and effected by the
company s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reﬂeé:t the transactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or

S , . . \
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or frau? may not be prevented or detected
on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal c?ntrol over financial reporting to
future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2003, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also
in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control|over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Ajccounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005 of the Company and our report

dated March 10, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP l

\

Phoenix, Arizona
March 10, 2006
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Item 9B. Other Information
None.

PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Regis}rant

Except as set forth herein, the information requi#ed by this item regarding our directors and compliance with Section
16 of the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference froml the information contained in our 2006 Proxy Statement (which will
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ng later than 120 days following the Company's fiscal year end). The
information required by Item 10 regarding our executive officers appears under Item 4 of Part I of this Annual Report as

permitted by General Instruction G(3).

The Company has adopted a code of ethics that applies to alf dlrectors officers and employees of the Company,
including the Chief Executive Officers, Chief Financial Qfﬁcer and Chief Accounting Officer. A copy of our Code of Ethics
has been filed as an exhibit hereto and is also available on our website at www.meritagehomes.com.

|

Information required in response to this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement, which
will be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the Company’s fiscal year end.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, which
will be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the Company s fiscal year end.

Jtem 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

|

Information required in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, which
will be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the Company’s fiscal year end.

Item 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table presents fees for professional audit services rendered by our principal accountant for the audit of
our annual financial statements for 2005 and 2004, and fees billed for other services rendered.

. 2005 2004
AU EEES (1) oo 3 1493.171 $1.451866
Audit - related fes (2) oo 71475 18,600
Audit and audit-related fe€s ... 1,564,646 1,470,466
TaX £668 (3) vl 83350 201,797
Tt 65 oo § 164799 $1672,263

(1) Audit fees consisted principally of fees for audit and revnew services, services related to various SEC filings and related
research and the 2005 and 2004 senior note offerings. A‘udn fees in 2005 and 2004 include $775,741 and $907,843 of fees
for audit services related to Management’s Annual Report on Internal Coritro! over Financial Reporting.

{2) Audit related fees consisted of fees related to the audit of our 401(k) Plan, financial accounting and reporting
consultations.

(3) Tax fees consisted of fees for income tax consulting and tax (including state and local tax procurement) compliance,
including preparation of original and amended state and|federal income tax returng, refund claims and IRS tax audit
assistance.

Each year, the audit committee approves the annua] audit engagement in advance. The committee has also
established procedures to pre-approve all non-audit services provided by the principal independent accountants. All 2008 and
2004 non-audit services listed above were pre-approved.
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Item 15.

{a)
(¥

PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Schedules

Financial Statements:

(1) Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP

(2) Report of KPMG LLP

(3) Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company, including Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and
related Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Stockholders’ Equity and Cash Flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005

Financial Statement Schedules:
Schedules have been omitted because of the absence of conditions under| which they are
required or because the required information is included in the Consolidated Financial

33
34

35-38

Statements or Notes thereto.
(b) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description Page or Method of Filing
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, datedas  Incorporated by reference to Appendix A of Form S-4

of September 13, 1996, by and among Homeplex,
the Monterey Merging Companies and the
Monterey Stockholders

31 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Meritage
Homes Corporation

Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of
Meritage Homes Corporation

32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Meritage
Homes Corporation

4.1 Form of Specimen of Common Stock Certificate

42 Indenture, dated May 30, 2001 (re 9%% Senior

Notes due 2011)

421 First Supplemental Indenture, dated September 20,
2001 (re 9% % Senior Notes due 2011)

422 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated July 12,
2002 (re 9%% Senior Notes due 2011)

423 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated October 21,
2002 (re 9%% Senior Notes due 2011)

424 Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated February
19, 2003 (re 9% % Senior Notes due 2011)

425 Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated August 22,
2003 (re 9%% Senior Notes due 2011)

426 Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated May 14,
2004 (re 9%% Senior Notes due 2011)

427 Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated December

20, 2004 (re 9%% Senior Notes due 2011}
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Registration Statement No. 333-13937.

J

|

|
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 of Form 8-K dated
June 20, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Form 8-K
dated September 15, 2004

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of Form S-3
Registration Statement No. 333-58793.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Form S-3
Registration Statement No. 333-87398.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form 8-K
dated June 6, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.1 of Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Incorporated by refere‘:nce to Exhibit 4.3.2 of Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Incorporated by refere\nce to Exhibit 4.3.3 of Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002, -

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.4 of Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Incorporated by refere[nce to Exhibit 4.2.5 of Form S-4
Registration Statemem No. 333-109933.

Incorporated by refereLce to Exhibit 4.2.6 of Form S-4
Registration Statement 333-115610.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2.7 of Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2004.




|
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Exhibit ‘

Number Description Page or Method of Filing
428 Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated March 10, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2.8 of Form 10-K
2005 (re 9% % Senior Notes due 2011) for the vear ended December 31, 2004.

43 Indenture, dated April 21, 2004 (re 7% Senior Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form 10-Q
Notes due 2014) ‘ for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004,

431 First Supplemental Indenture, dated May 14,2004  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.1 of Form 5-4
{re 7% Sentor Notes due 2014) Registration Statement No. 333-115610.

432 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated December  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.2 of Form 10-K
20, 2004 (re 7% Senior Notes due 2014) for the year ended December 31, 2004.

433 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated April 18, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.3 of Form S-4
2005 (re 7% Senior Notes due 2014) Registration Statement No. 333-123661.

434 Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated September ~ Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form 10-Q
22,2005 (re 7% Senior Notes due 2014) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005.

44 Indenture dated March 10, 2005 (re 6%4% Senior ~ Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of Form 10-K
Notes due 2015) and form of 6/4% Senior Notes for the year ended December 31, 2004.
l

due 2015
441 First Supplemental Indenture, dated April 18, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1.1 of Form 54
2005 (re 6%4% Senior Notes due 2015) Registration Statement No. 333-123661.

442 Second Supplementat Indenture, dated September  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Form 10-Q
22,2005 (re 6%% Senior Notes due 2015) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005.

10.1 Master Transaction Agreefnem, dated Febru?ry 9,  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form §-K/A
2005, by and among the Company, Meritage dated February 9, 2005.
Homes of Flonida, Inc., Colonial Homes, Inc.,

Colonial Shores, LLC and The Colonial Cor}lpany
*x%

10.2 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated August 24, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 10-Q
2005, by and among Meritage Homes of Floriida, for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005.

Inc. and the stockholders of Greater Homes, Inc.
k¥

1021 First Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Form 10-Q
dated September 1, 2005, by and among Meriltage for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005.
Homes of Florida, Inc. and the stockholders ?f

Greater Homes, Inc.

103 Credit Agreement dated December 12, 2002 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002,

103.1  First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated1 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.1 of Form 5-4
September 8, 2003 Registration Statement No. 333-109933.

1032  Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.2 of Form 10-
December 3, 2003 K for the year ended December 31, 2003.

103.3  Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q
April 20, 2004 for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004,

1034  Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q
October 28, 2004 l for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004.




Exhibit
Number Description Page or Method of Filing
103.5  Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K
December 23, 2004 dated December 30, 2004.
1036  Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K
April 29, 2005 dated April 29, 2005.
1037 Commitment Increase Agreement, dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K
November 18, 2005. dated November 18 2005.
10.3.8  Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated ~ Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K
December 20, 2005. dated December 20| 2005. |
104 2001 Annual Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit B of the Proxy
Statement for the 2001 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
10.5 Amended Meritage Stock Option Plan * Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2004,
10.5.1 Representative Form of Meritage Qualified Stock  Incorporated by refe‘\rence to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 10-Q
Option Agreement * for the quarter endenli Setpember 30, 2004,
1052 Representative Form of Meritage Non-Qualified Incorporated by refe‘rence to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 10-Q
Stock Option Agreement * for the quarter ended September 30, 2004
10.6 Representative Form of Employment Agreement  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit IO 1 of Form 8-K
between the Company and Steven J. Hilton and dated July 8, 2003.
John R. Landon *
10.6.1 Revised Amendment to Employment Agreements  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q
between the Company and Steven J. Hilton and for the quarterly penod ended June 30,2004
John R. Landon *
1062 First Amendment to Employment Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K
between the Company and John R. Landon * dated June 30, 2005,
1063 First Amendment to Employment Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 8-K
between the Company and Steven J. Hilton * dated June 30, 2005.
10.7 Employment Agreement between the Company Incorporated by referi‘ence to Exhibit 10.7 of Form S-4
and Larry W. Seay* Registration Statement No. 333-109933.
107.1 Amendment to Employment Agreement between  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10:2 of Form 10-Q
the Company and Larry W. Seay * for the quarterly penod ended June 30, 2004
108 Representative Form of Amended and Restated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 8-K
Change of Control Agreement between the dated July 8, 2003. i
Company and Steven J. Hilton and John R. \
Landon*
10.9 Amended and Restated Change of Contro} Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Form S-4
Agreement between the Company and Larry W. Registration Statement No. 333-109933.
Seay*
10.10 Change of Control Agreement between the Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of Form 10-
Company and Richard T. Morgan* Q/A for the quarterly perrod ended March 31, 2000.
10.11 Deferred Bonus Agreement ~ 2002 Award Year-  Incorporated by refere‘nce to Exhibit 10.10 of Form 10-K

between the Company and Larry W. Seay*

for the year ended December 31, 2002.




Exhibit

|
r

Number Description ‘ Page or Method of Filing
10.12 Deferred Bonus Agreement - 2003 Award|Year - Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 10-Q
between the Company and Larry W. Seay T for the quarterly period dated March 31, 2004.
‘ r
10.13 Deferred Bonus Agreement - 2002 Award \Year- Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of Form 10-K
between the Company and Richard T. Morgan* for the year ended December 31, 2002.
10.14 Deferred Bonus Agreement ~ 2003 Award Year - Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 10-Q
between the Company and Richard T. Morgan * for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004.
10.15 Employment Agreement between the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q
and C. Timothy White * for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005.
10.16  Change of Control Agreement between the Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 10-Q
Company and C. Timothy White * for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005.
10.17  Deferred Bonus Agreement - 2004 Award Year—  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 10-Q
between the Company and Larry W. Seay * for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2005.
10.18  Deferred Bonus Agreement — 2004 Award Year - Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Form 10-Q
between the Company and Richard T. Morgan * for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2005.
10.19  Offer of Employment Letter from the Company to  Filed herewith,
Sandra R.A. Karrmann ‘
1020 Change of Control agreement between the Filed herewith.
Company and Sandra R.A. Karrmann
14 Code of Ethics Filed herewith.
21 List of Subsidiaries Filed herewith.
231 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP Filed herewith.
23.2 Consent of KPMG LLP . Filed herewith.
24 Powers of Attorney See signature page.
311 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certificate of StevenJ.  Filed herewith.
Hilton, Co-Chief Executive Officer
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certificate of John f{ Filed herewith.
Landon, Co-Chief Executive Officer
313 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certificate of LarryW.  Filed herervith.
Seay, Chief Financial Officer
32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Co-Chief Executive  Filed herewith.

Officers and Chief Financial Officer

|

*  Indicates a management contract or compensation plan.
**  Certain Confidential Information in this Exhibit was omitted by means of redacting a portion of the text and replacing it

|

with an asterisk. This Exhibit has been filed separately with the Secretary of the Securities and Exchange Commission
without the redaction pursuant to Confidential Treatment Request under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchan g‘e Act of 1934, the reglstrant has duly

caused this report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authonzed this 14" day of
March 2006.

MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION,
a Maryland Corporation

By /¢/ STEVEN JHILTON
Steven J. Hilton
Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

By /s/ JOHNR.LANDON
John R. Landon
Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Oﬂicer

By /s/ LARRY W.SEAY
Larry W. Seay ‘
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Steven J. Hilton, John R. Landon and Larry W. Seay, and each of them, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and
agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution (for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities,
to sign any and all amendments to this Form 10-K Annual Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection therewith the Securities and Exéhange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents,
and each of them, full power and authority to do and perf‘orm each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done
in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.

Pursuant to these requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the following persons on behalf of the

registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated have signed this report on Form 10-K below:

Signature Title ’ Date

Is/ STEVEN J. HILTON Co-Chairman and March 14, 2006
Steven J. Hilton Chief Executive ‘Ofﬂcer

Isf JOHN R. LANDON Co-Chairman an‘d ‘ March 14, 2006
John R. Landon Chief Executive ‘Ofﬁcer

|

s/ LARRY W. SEAY Chief Financial Officer ‘ March 14, 2006

Larry W. Seay Executive Vice P‘resident ‘

(Principal Financial Officer)

Jsf VICKI L. BIGGS Controller and “ March 14, 2006
Vicki L. Biggs Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

is! PETER L. AX Director ‘ March 14, 2006
Peter L. Ax :

/sl RAYMOND OPPEL Director March 14, 2006
Raymond Oppel ‘

Is/ ROBERT G. SARVER Director March 14, 2006
Robert G. Sarver ‘

Is/ WILLIAM CAMPBELL Director ‘ March 14, 2006

William Campbell
s/ RICHARD T.BURKE, SR.  Director March 14, 2006

Richard T. Burke, Sr.

fsl GERALD W. HADDOCK Director . March 14, 2006
Gerald W. Haddock
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EXHIBIT 31.1
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATION

1, Steven J. Hilton, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Meritage Homes Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a mater‘ia] fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information inc‘luded in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 132-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures tobe designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including jtis consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal conlro‘l over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

. : . \ _—
¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and }?resemed in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
regstrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of é‘n annual report) that has matenally
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons

performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of imerr}al contro] over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, s\ummarize and report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees wholhave a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2006

/sf Steven J. Hilton
Steven I. Hilton
Co-Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATION

I, Jobn R. Landon, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Meritage Homes Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and <other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report; .
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) #nd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) gor the registrant and have:

. . | . .
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relatin‘g to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting,|or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

|

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosur% controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourgh fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likety to materiafly affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

\

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internat control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the ludit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in th‘e design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial

information; and |

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting,

Date: March 14, 2006
{s/ John R. Landon

John R. Landon
Co-Chief Executive Officer

=
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EXHIBIT 31.3
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATION

I, Larry W. Seay, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Meritage Homes Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a materral fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and [ are responsible for establishing and m‘aintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e}) and internal control over financial repomng (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls ‘and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including 1ts consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

l

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal comroll over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 1n this report our
conclusions sbout the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and |

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of z:an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons

performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a srgmﬁcant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2006

fs/ Larry W, Seay
Larry W. Seay
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Meritage Homes Corporation (the “Company”) for the period
ending December 31, 2003, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, the
undersigned, certify, to the best of our knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faitly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company. ‘
!

MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION,
a Maryland Corporation

By /& ' STEVENIJ HILTON
Steven J. Hilton
Co-Chief Executive Officer

March 14, 2006

By //  JOHNR.LANDON
JohnR. Landon
Co-Chief Executive Officer

March 14, 2006

Larry W. Seay
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

\ By /s LARRY W SEAY
\ March 14, 2006
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John R. Landon
CoChairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Steven |. Hilton
CoChairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Peler | AxM@oia
Managing Partner
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William G. Campbell"2®
Managing Direcior
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Capital, Inc.

Richard T. Burke, Sr.®
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First Cash Financial Services, Inc.

Gerald W. Haddock ™
President
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{1} Member of the Execuive Compensation Camittee
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4] lead Independent Director
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Co-Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Steven J. Hilton
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CORPORATE INFORMATION - www.meritagehomes.com

Corporate Offices
Meritage Homes Corporation
2745 North Dallas Parkway
Suite 600

Plono, TX 75093
972-543-8100

Meritage Homes Corporation
17851 North 85th Street
Suite 300

Scotisdale, AZ 85255
480:609-3330

Annual Meeting
May 17, 2006
10:00 a.m.

Hote! Crescent Court
400 Crescent Courtt
Dallas, TX 75201
214-871-3200

Certifications

Transfer Agent & Reglstrar
Mellon Investor Serwces Ite

85 Challenger Rood

Ridgefield Pork NJ 07600

WWW. me”onmvestor com

800-356:2017 \
Corporate Cansel
Snell & Wilmer LLP
Phoenix, AZ

Independent Auditors
Deloitte & Touche |LLP
Phoenix, AZ

Corporate Commumcaﬂons
Jane S. Hays

2745 North Dallas Parkway
Suite 600

Plano, TX 75093

972-5438123

Form 10-K

A copy of our Annual Report
on Form 10K, as filed with the
United States Securies and
Exchange Commission, is
ovoilob?e without charge upon
written request lo:

Investor Relations

Brent Anderson

2745 North Dallas Parkway
Suite 600

Plano TX 75093
072-543-8207

Copies of our CEO/CFO ceriifications filed with the SEC regarding the quality of our public disclosure are filed at
Exhibits 31.1 - 31.3 of our Form 10K, We fled the annual CEO certfication requwed by NYSE within 30 days of our

2005 Annual Meeting of stockholders.

Common Stock Price Range

Our common stock is raded on the New York Stock Exchonge Symbol MTH.

2005 Quarter Ended High

March 31 $76.62 $53.42 March 31
June 30 8500 58.54 \ June 30
Seplember 30 96.50 72.06 September 30
December3 78.27 57.29 December 31

Low \

2004 Quarter Ended High Low

$39.83 $29.56
37.35 2946
39.81 29.54
57.17 3580

As of March 15, 2006, there were approximately 230 holders of record:represenﬂng an estimated 28,000 beneficial owners of Meritage

common stock. The company does not pay dividends on its commen stock. All stock prices reflect the Janvary 2005 24or-]

stock split.
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